

Alternative Gas Production and Their Integration into Glass Industry

July 2024

Nerijus Striūgas, Lithuanian Energy Institute, Lithuania Adolfas Jančauskas, Lithuanian Energy Institute, Lithuania







Table 1: Document information

Document Inform	Document Information					
Project name:	Sustainable Glass Industry with Fuel-Flexible Technology					
Project acronym	GIFFT					
Project number:	101122257					
Start date:	01/10/2023					
Duration:	48 Months					
Work package number	WP2					
Task number	T2.3					
Deliverable number	D2.2					
Lead beneficiary	LEI					
Due date of deliverable	Month 10					

Table 2: Dissemination level of this report

Dissemination level of this report

PU

Public





Table 3: List of Abbreviations

Abbreviation	Definition
AVG	Average electricity and natural gas price scenario
BFB	Bubbling fluidised bed
BtX	Biomass-to-X
CAPEX	Capital expenditures
CCUS	Carbon capture, utilization, and storage
CFB	Circulating fluidised bed
СНР	Combined heat and power
C _x H _y	Hydrocarbons
DD	Downdraft-gasifier
DFB	Dual fluidised bed
DME	Dimethyl ether
EF	Entrained flow
ER	equivalence ratio
FF	Further fuels
FT	Fisher-Tropsch syncrude
GEC	Green (free) electricity case
GDP	Gross domestic product
LHV	Lower heating value
LPG	Liquid petroleum gas





MAX	High electricity and natural gas price scenario
MIN	Low electricity and natural gas price scenario
OPEX	Operational expenditures
RDF	Refuse derived fuel
TRL	Technology readiness levels
MeOH	Methanol
OPEX	Operational expenditures
PAEF	Plasma assisted entrained flow
SCR	Selective catalytic NOx reduction
SMR	Steam methane reforming
SNCR	Selective non-catalytic NOx reduction
SNG	Synthetic natural gas
SLS	Soda lime silica
UD	Updraft gasifier





ACKNOWLEDGMENT & DISCLAIMER

This project has received funding from the European Union's Horizon Europe research and innovation programme under Grant Agreement No 101122257.

The information and views set out in this report are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the official opinion of the European Union. Neither the European Union institutions and bodies nor any person acting on their behalf may be held responsible for the use which may be made of the information contained therein.

Reproduction is authorised provided the source is acknowledged.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Deliverable D2.2 is a review report that offers insights into the potential integration of various gasification systems for targeted applications within the GIFFT project. The study reviews existing advanced substitute gas production processes that could be integrated into the glass industry. It emphasizes the advantages of advanced entrained flow gasification over other existing substitute gas production processes in the glass industry. The D2.2 result introduces an overview of the glass industry, detailing primary glass products, melting processes, and the GIFFT partners representing these sectors. The paper examines current energy sources and explores alternative fuel options, discussing and comparing their characteristics. The most promising alternative fuel, synthetic gas, has been identified for implementation in the GIFFT project. Furthermore, the paper debates the advantages of different production technologies, presenting and comparing their characteristics and parameters, and costs.





Table of Contents

1	Gl	lass	industry
	1.1		Container glass (JSC Panevezio Stiklas)7
	1.2		Special glass: flat glass (SCHOTT)
	1.3		Glass melting furnaces
2	Fu	uel s	ources14
	2.1		Fossil fuels
	2.2		Alternative fuels
	2.3		Fuel properties comparison
3	As	sses	sment of potential of gasification technologies 24
	3.1		Advantage of plasma assisted entrained flow gasification
	3.	1.1	Entrained flow (EF) gasifier
	3.	1.2	Plasma-assisted entrained flow (PAEF) gasifier
	3.	1.3	Bubbling fluidised bed (BFB) gasification27
	3.	1.4	Circulating fluidized bed (CFB) gasification
	3.	1.5	Dual-fluidised bed (DFB) gasifier
	3.	1.6	Updraft (UD) gasifier
	3.	1.7	Downdraft (DD) gasifier
	3.2		Comparison of gasification technologies
4	Te	echn	no-economic assessment
5	Co	oncl	usions and recommendations
6	Lit	tera	ture





1 Glass industry

Glass is a quickly cooled, solid, inorganic amorphous material that can occur naturally or artificially. Nowadays, glass is created by heating inorganic substances widely found in nature in specific proportions to the melting point before cooling to the solid form. The composition is tailored to meet the desired of the application, from food containers to precision optics. Glass types are grouped by composition and properties into the broad categories of soda lime silica (SLS) glass, lead crystal and crystal glass, borosilicate glass and special glass.

The global distribution of glass production shows that 61% comprises glass container and flat glass production, due to its highly favourable properties: recyclability, excellent transparency, chemical inertness, and surface smoothness. Most importantly, it is relatively low-cost to produce. The rest consists of specialized glass such as stained glass and tinted glass, intaglio or etched glass, others (33%) and fibreglass (6%) [1]. The European Union is the world's largest producer of glass containers, producing 22 million tons per year (2006). In terms of production, glass containers take the first place among all glass products and account for about 56% [2] of the total production. Glass production is an energy-intensive process due to the high melting temperatures (above 1000 °C) achieved by mainly burning fossil fuels in a continuous production process. The European glass industry is estimated to consume 344 PJ of total final energy (2007), of which 83% is primary fuel – fossil gas and liquid fuel, and the remaining 17% is electricity [3]. The EU needs to improve its technological development and productivity further to compete in the global market.

This section will observe prominent examples of the glass industry, such as GIFFT project participants and suitable target groups.

1.1 Container glass (JSC Panevezio Stiklas)

The Lithuanian company "Panevezio Stiklas" has produced glass products since 1961. The factory started its activity with sheet glass for the construction industry. Over time, the production volume expanded, and the range of manufactured products grew. Workshops for producing glass blocks, mosaic tiles, and glass fibre (non-woven reinforcement) appeared. After the economy transitioned to free market conditions, "Panevezio Stiklas" focused its production capacity on producing standard and specialised glass containers. In 2017, "Panevezio Stiklas" invested in a new glass melting furnace, which increased production capabilities. Currently, the melting furnace produces 140 tons of glass production per day. The company participates in the circular economy and delivers products from used glass collected by residents.

Glass containers are made from SLS glass in gas or liquid fuel furnaces by automated individual section machines and are divided into five stages:

- 1. Production of a piece of molten glass (gob) of suitable mass and temperature;
- 2. Forming the primary form in the first template (blank mould) with compressed air or a metal plunger;
- 3. Transportation of the primary form to the production of the final form;
- 4. Finishing the mould by blowing compressed air into the final mould;
- 5. Transportation of manufactured products to the final process (post-forming process)

The melted glass moves from the end-fire regenerative or cross-fire furnace through a forehearth to reach a gathering bowl (spout) at the end. From the base of the gathering bowl, one to four parallel glass streams are created through appropriately sized openings. These glass streams, regulated by a mechanical plunger system, are then cut into precise lengths by a shear mechanism to form basic, sausage-shaped glass masses known as "gobs". The system responsible for creating these gobs is called the "feeder mechanism". Gobs are simultaneously cut from the parallel glass streams and shaped in parallel moulds on the forming machine.





Table 1.1 gives typical characteristics of glass containers.

 Table 1.1 Typical composition of container glass

Component	Mass fraction, %
Silicon dioxide (SiO ₂)	71 – 73
Sodium oxide (Na ₂ O)	12 – 14
Calcium oxide (CaO)	9 – 12
Magnesium oxide (MgO)	0.2 – 3.5
Aluminium oxide (Al ₂ O ₃)	1-3
Potassium oxide (K ₂ O)	0.3 – 1.5
Sulphur trioxide (SO₃)	0.05 – 0.3
Colour modifiers, etc.	Traces

From the feeder mechanism, the gobs are directed by a system of chutes into the blank moulds on the forming machine where the forming process occurs. The forming process occurs in two stages, as illustrated in Fig 1.1. The initial shaping of the blank is achieved either by pressing with a plunger or by blowing with compressed air, depending on the type of container. These processes are called "press and blow" and "blow and blow", respectively. Press and blow forming are well-suited for producing jars and are commonly used to craft lightweight bottles. Blow and blow forming, conversely, are more versatile and the preferred method for creating standard-weight bottles and more intricate shapes. The final moulding operation always involves blowing to achieve the desired hollow shape.

Cooled-down and solidified containers move on a continuous conveyor for subsequent production stages. High volumes of compressed air are used for heat extraction from the surface and the moulds. The rapid cooling of the outer surface of the containers induces high differential stresses in the glass, leading to increased fragility. Cooling under controlled conditions (annealing) to prevent the development of additional stresses is done in lehr. Lehrs are typically heated by gas or electricity, and once they reach the operating temperature, the incoming containers contribute the majority of the heating energy.







Fig. 1.1 "Press and blow" and "blow and blow" glass containers forming processes

Surface coatings can be applied immediately after forming to enhance product performance. The glass containers still over 500 °C can be hot-end coated with SnO₂ or cold-end coated with polymers after annealing. Typically, a combination of hot-end and cold-end treatments is employed, with coatings applied to the outside surface of the containers. Hot surface coatings, usually tin oxide or titanium oxide, are applied immediately after leaving the forming machine. Combined with subsequent lubricating cold surface coatings, this prevents glass surface damage during handling. The metal oxide coating is a substrate to retain lubricating organic molecules, ensuring scratch resistance with food-safe lubricants. Hot-end treatment also enhances mechanical resistance.

After manufacturing, glass containers may undergo a secondary process to add decoration and identify characteristics before being sent to customers. This can involve pressure-sensitive or heat-shrink labels or heat-applied ceramic decoration.

1.2 Special glass: flat glass (SCHOTT)

Schott Glass Company was founded in 1884 in Jena, Germany, by Otto Schott, Ernst Abbe, and Carl Zeiss. Originally named Glastechnisches Laboratorium Schott & Genossen, the company aimed to advance glass science and technology. Now, the company's headquarters is in Mainz; Schott's is a known special glass manufacturer, mainly for medical applications, home appliances, as well as automotive applications, aerospace, and optics. The Schott company is committed to corporate social responsibility, sustainability, and supporting community initiatives and educational programs. Schott company made an ambitious commitment to become a carbon-neutral manufacturer by 2030. This goal of the company will be achieved through the implementation of four areas of activity:

- 1. Technology change
- 2. Improvement of energy efficiency
- 3. Consumption of green electricity
- 4. Compensation for remaining emissions

From 2018 to 2020, Schott Glass Company took significant strides towards its sustainability goals by introducing green electricity to all production sites all over the world. This strategic move significantly reduced the company's CO₂ footprint by over 60% [4], underscoring Schott's commitment to environmental stewardship. Further





reduction will be done by technological change, e.g. drastic increase in electric boosting, electric heating by plasma or microwave, or the use of green hydrogen or renewable bio-fuels.

One of Schott's special glass products is flat glass made by float glass production or made by rolling processes. Schott develops and supplies special glass e.g. to home appliance and commercial refrigeration customers. Flat glass products are named according to their shape. All flat glasses manufactured in a flat form are described as flat glass, irrespective of the production method. Flat glass can be produced by float or rolled glass methods.

A typical composition for borosilicate glass flat glass is provided in Table 1.2 [5], one of glass ceramic is provided in Table 1.3 [6].

 Table 1.2 Typical composition of borosilicate floated flat glass (DURAN)

Component	Mass percentage
Silicon dioxide (SiO ₂)	81.0
Sodium oxide (Na ₂ O)	3.2
Boron Oxide	13.0
Aluminium oxide (Al ₂ O ₃)	2.0
Potassium oxide (K ₂ O)	0.8
Colour modifiers, etc.	Traces

 Table 1.3 Typical composition of glass ceramic rolled flat glass (Narumi)

Component	Mass percentage
Silicon dioxide (SiO ₂)	65.0
Sodium oxide (Na ₂ O)	1.0
Lithium oxide (Li ₂ O)	4.0
Magnesium oxide (MgO)	1.0
Aluminium oxide (Al ₂ O ₃)	22.5
Potassium oxide (K ₂ O)	1.0
Phosphorous oxide (P₂O₅)	1.0
Titanium oxide (TiO ₂)	2.0
Zirconium oxide (ZrO ₂)	2.5
Colour modifiers, etc.	Traces





The float glass production method is based on molten glass pouring onto a bath, i.e., a float tank of molten tin, forming a ribbon where the upper and lower surfaces become parallel due to the influence of gravity and surface tension. The float tank, supported by a steel framework and lined with refractory blocks containing molten tin, is approximately 55 to 60 meters long, 4 to 10 meters wide, and divided into 15 to 20 bays. The tank maintains an airtight environment, with a slightly reducing atmosphere achieved by injecting a mixture of nitrogen and hydrogen. This atmosphere is crucial to prevent oxidation of the tin surface, preserving the critical contact surface between the glass and the tin.

The most typical and extensively used melting technique for the flat glass is predominantly manufactured using cross-fired regenerative furnaces. Schott's furnaces are cross-fired use airfuel-firing or oxyfuel-firing for higher energy efficiency and to reach the higher temperatures which are needed to melt the special glass. Molten glass travels from the furnace through a refractory-lined canal, which is heated to maintain the correct glass temperature. The glass is poured onto the tin bath at the canal's end through a unique refractory lip, known as "the spout", ensuring proper glass spreading. The glass flow is controlled by an adjustable suspended refractory shutter in the canal, referred to as the front "tweel". Upon initial contact with the tin, the metal's temperature is around 1000 °C, cooling to approximately 600 °C at the bath's exit. As the glass traverses the bath's surface, it attains a uniform thickness and adopts the nearly perfect flatness of the molten tin.



Fig 1.2. provides a schematic representation of the float glass process.

Fig. 1.2 The typical float glass processes [7]

Numerous pairs of water-cooled top rollers operate within the float tank and are adjustable in direction, height, penetration, and angle. These rollers engage the glass sheet's edges using cog wheels, drawing it in length and width. The glass thickness, typically ranging from 1.5 to 19 mm, is governed by the rate of glass flow and the rotation speeds of the rollers. Graphite barriers can be introduced to produce thicker glasses, especially on the tin surface, where the glass achieves its maximum natural thickness.

The float glass manufacturing process is precise, highly efficient and continuous. Exiting the float bath, the glass ribbon is swiftly removed by lift-out rollers and passes through a lehr for annealing. At the lehr's beginning, SO_2 is sprayed on both sides of the ribbon to provide a surface treatment protecting the glass against roller contact. The lehr, divided into sections with heating and indirect or direct cooling by forced and natural convection, gradually cools the glass from 600 to 60 °C, reducing residual stresses from the forming process to an acceptable





level. This efficient process, from pouring onto the float bath to the cutting line, spans a continuous up to 200 meter ribbon of glass. A travelling cutter online cuts the cooled glass ribbon at the end of the production process. Online coatings, such as low-emissivity glazing, can be applied to enhance product performance.

Rolling glass manufacturing is another way of making a flat glass product. This process forms a ribbon with a carefully controlled thickness and surface pattern (see Fig 1.3).



Machine carriage

Fig. 1.3 The rolled glass process [7]

Rolled glass is manufactured through an ongoing double-roll procedure. Molten glass, reaching temperatures of approximately 1000 °C, is compressed between water-cooled steel rollers. This process usually creates a less smooth and uniform surface than float glass. It is typically also a continuous processing, but also batch process is possible where smaller sheets are produced.

1.3 Glass melting furnaces

Glass melting furnaces are categorised in to regenerative and recuperative furnaces, designed to recover and reuse heat during glass production. The term "regenerative" refers to a heat-recovery system used in glass making. Regenerative glass furnaces are divided into End-fire regenerative and Cross-fire regenerative furnaces. Glass container plants typically employ either end-fired or cross-fired regenerative furnaces. In contrast, all float glass furnaces adhere to a cross-fired regenerative design.

A regenerative furnace has two regenerator chambers. In regenerative furnaces, the heat in the waste gases is used to preheat air before combustion. It is achieved by passing the waste gases through a chamber containing refractory material that absorbs heat, i.e. checker bricks. While one chamber is heated by waste gas from combustion (flue gas), the other preheats incoming combustion air. Typical air preheat temperatures (depending on the number of ports) generally range to 1400 °C. These elevated temperatures contribute to exceptionally high thermal efficiencies in the glass manufacturing process - the regenerative furnace fires on only one of two sets of burners simultaneously. After a predetermined period, usually 20 minutes, the firing cycle of the furnace is reversed, and the combustion air is passed through the chamber previously heated by the waste gases.

Most of the glass production is done in a cross-fired regenerative furnace due to the high production capacity, which can vary from 20 to 1000 tons per day [7]. In the cross-fired regenerative furnace, a design that optimizes space, combustion ports and burners are strategically positioned along the sides of the furnace. The regenerator chambers are located on either side and connected to the furnace via the port necks (Fig 1.4).





The flame, a key element in the combustion process, passes above the molten material and directly into the opposite ports. The number of ports used, which can be as many as eight, is determined by the size and capacity of the furnace and its specific design. The regenerator chambers are divided for each burner port in some larger furnaces. This design effectively utilises a multitude of burners and is particularly suitable for larger installations, as it facilitates the differentiation of the temperature along the furnace length necessary to stimulate the required convection currents in the glass melt.



Fig. 1.4 Schematic diagram of a cross-fired regenerative glass furnace [8]

An end-fired regenerative furnace works the same operation principles by recovering the waste energy. However, it distinguishes itself by placing two regenerative chambers at a single end of the furnace, each equipped with a solitary port (Fig 1.5). The flame follows a U-shaped path, returning to the adjacent regenerator chamber through the second port. While this arrangement promotes a more cost-effective regenerator system than the cross-fired design, it has a trade-off of reduced flexibility in adjusting the furnace temperature profile. Consequently, this design is less favoured for larger furnaces.



Fig. 1.5 Schematic diagram of an end-fired regenerative glass furnace

Overall, end-fired furnaces demonstrate higher energy efficiency than cross-fired furnaces, primarily due to two factors. First, the lower number of burner ports minimizes energy loss through these openings, which can be significant. Second, the extended residence time of combustion gases in the end-fired furnace allows the flames more time to radiate energy to both the batch blanket and the glass melt.





Recuperative furnaces represent another widely used heat recovery system, particularly in small to mediumcapacity installations. Although higher capacity furnaces (> 400 tonnes per day) are not uncommon. In this setup, cold incoming air is indirectly preheated by the continuous flow of waste gas passing through a metal or ceramic heat exchanger. For metallic recuperators, air preheat temperatures are typically limited to around 800 °C, resulting in lower recovered heat than regenerative furnaces. The diminished direct energy efficiency can be compensated by additional heat recovery systems on waste gases, serving purposes such as preheating raw materials or steam production.

Capacity limitation can be partially mitigated by incorporating electric boosting. While earlier unit melters or direct-fired furnaces may not have featured initial recuperators, the current practice exclusively associates the term "unit melter" with the conventional recuperative furnace. Burners are positioned along each side of the furnace, creating convective flow patterns that strategically direct hot combustion gases above the relatively cold batch blanket. This optimization enhances heat transfer to both the batch and the glass melt before the gases exit the combustion chamber through the exhaust port.

2 Fuel sources

Glass manufacturing is an energy-intensive process, where up to 75% of energy is used for raw material melting. Glass production typically utilises various energy sources for different processes. The glass industry needs energy diversification. It uses primary and secondary energy sources, which rely on the consumption of traditional fossil fuels. The choice of energy source depends on factors such as the type of glass produced, furnace design, environmental regulations, and the cost and availability of energy resources in a specific region. This section will compare conventional (fossil) and possible (alternative) fuels.

2.1 Fossil fuels

Fossil fuels are the main source of primary energy, meeting 79% of humanity's energy needs. There are generally four types of fossil fuels produced from raw materials, which are naturally occurring but require a range of processing (refining) methods to become fuels that can be used. They are typically used for transportation, industry, residential, commercial and other sectors:

- 1. Natural Gas is the most commonly used fuel. It covers approximately 62% of the total energy demand in the glass industry [9]. Natural gas is often considered a cost-effective fuel (depending on the region and economic situation). Natural gas is a hydrocarbon gas primarily composed of methane, with smaller amounts of other hydrocarbons, such as ethane, propane, and butane. It may also contain traces of non-hydrocarbon gases like carbon dioxide, nitrogen, and helium. Because of its composition, natural gas is considered a cleaner-burning fossil fuel often used in regenerative and recuperative furnaces. Its versatility and wide availability make it suitable for various industrial processes beyond glass production, such as power generation and heating.
- 2. Fuel Oil is an energy source whose use depends on factors such as furnace design, energy efficiency goals, and economic considerations. Its composition differs from natural and liquid petroleum gas, with a higher carbon content, sulphur, and other compounds. Because of this, the combustion of liquid fuels can result in a higher quantity of pollutants such as sulfur dioxide and particulate matter. As environmental regulations become more stringent, glass manufacturers may implement measures to control emissions or explore cleaner fuel alternatives.
- 3. Coal is a historic energy source for glass furnaces, used as the primary energy source till the 17th century. Rapid deforestation and wood biomass depletion have fostered the use of this alternative. It had a practical advantage against previously used wood biomass due to its preferable characteristics, i.e., stable composition, heating value and humidity, which eventually led to much greater production. However, at present, it is a least desirable fuel, and its consumption has, over time, decreased due to several environmental and economic factors. Coal is the fuel that emits the most carbon dioxide per





energy unit. In addition, coal tends to have higher NOx, SO₂, and particulate matter emissions compared with liquid or gaseous fossil fuels, the levels of which depend on the coal type and combustion technology.

4. Liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) is artificially produced as a byproduct of the oil extraction and refining process. It is a versatile and convenient fuel that consists mainly of propane and butane. It is stored and transported in a liquid state but is vaporized before being used in combustion processes. In the glass industry, LPG may be employed as a fuel in furnaces, particularly in smaller-scale operations or where natural gas is not readily available for geographical or economic reasons. LPG's high energy content, ease of handling, and relatively clean combustion make it a useful alternative to natural gas in some circumstances.

The extensive use of these fuels led to rapid growth in industry, improved living standards and population growth. The technological and sociological changes made possible by the use of fossil fuels have significantly improved the quality and duration of life for many, but it is now recognised that their continued use has negative consequences for the planet. The prospects for fossil fuels depend on many technological, economic and social factors. Their impact must be assessed complexly and changes over time, but the overall trend is clear. Factors influencing the outlook for fossil fuels are highlighted below.

Fossil fuels have long been pivotal to the development and economies of civilizations. The Romans were the first in the Western world to use coal in the first century AD in Britain, but wider consumption in Europe did not come until the Industrial Revolution (18th century). The concentration of available fossil fuel deposits in certain regions leads to political unrest and acts as a political tool. Since World War II, there have been at least several global oil crises with varying global economic effects. One of the most prominent is the oil crisis of 1973, which affected the global economy. It is estimated that at that moment, due to the sudden shortage of this fossil fuel, Europe's gross domestic product (GDP) shrank by 2.5% (US – 4.7%, Japan - 7%). Price fluctuations and the general trend indicate that this fuel type can be seen as a temporary energy source (see Fig 2.1). Over the past 50 years, the average price of oil, adjusted for inflation, has increased 1.8 times. Based on the historical prices of crude accumulated so far, there is no reason to believe that the cost of fossil fuels will have a downward trend in the future. According to the fundamental laws of market supply and demand, if the known resources of this fossil fuel continue to deplete and the demand remains high because of the lack of the will to switch to alternative energy sources, its price will inevitably increase.



Fig. 2.1 Historical prices of crude oil [10]

However, these price dynamics are not unique to oil; they represent broader trends affecting all types of fossil fuels. An increase in oil prices in a free market economy often leads to concurrent rises in natural gas and coal costs, as these commodities are interlinked through production, consumption, and energy market mechanisms. To demonstrate it, Ahmed et al. [11] calculated real oil price as a ratio of nominal oil price to the US producer





price index of all commodities. Fig. 2.2 illustrates the price trends of various fossil fuels over the past three decades, highlighting the pervasive nature of price volatility across these energy sources. This correlation underscores the interconnectedness of fossil fuel markets and the susceptibility of all fossil fuels to similar economic and geopolitical factors.



Fig. 2.2 The trend of real brent oil price, real coal price, and real natural gas price [11]

In addition to the negative economic aspects, the use of fossil fuels is accompanied by a carbon footprint. Burning fossil fuels that contain carbon produces carbon dioxide (CO_2), which depends on the amount of carbon in the fuel. It is estimated that for the same amount of energy, wood emits about six times less CO_2 than natural gas, eight times less than oil, and even ten times less than coal [12].

It is generally accepted that fossil fuel consumption is directly linked to increased CO₂ concentrations, global warming and climate change. The global energy consumption, atmospheric CO₂ concentration and global average temperatures show the same exponential trendlines since the beginning of the "Age of Oil" (Fig 2.3).



Fig. 2.3 Historical records of global primary energy consumption, atmosphere CO₂ concentrations and global temperature [13]

The environmental impact of burning fossil fuels, including air pollution and contribution to climate change, has prompted increased efforts to limit their use. Fossil fuel consumer behaviour, corporate practices, and government policies are influenced by growing public awareness of environmental issues and activism around climate change. There is increasing pressure on businesses and governments to adopt sustainable practices and reduce dependence on fossil fuels. Government policies and international agreements play a crucial role in shaping the future of fossil fuels. Many countries have committed to reducing carbon emissions and increasing





the share of renewable energy in their energy mix. Efforts to mitigate these emissions include developing and implementing cleaner technologies, such as advanced combustion processes, using cleaner fuels, and adopting renewable energy sources. Regulatory measures and international agreements aim to reduce emissions and address the environmental and health impacts of burning fossil fuels.

Another essential factor is limited fossil fuel reserves. According to the latest estimates, considering the world's energy demand and known fossil fuel resources, it has been reported that these reserves are rapidly depleting and will be exhausted entirely by the end of this century (Fig. 2.4).



Fig. 2.4 Energy reserves in billions of tons of oil equivalent [14]

However, as technology advances and oil prices rise, previously considered economically unfeasible reserves can be brought into operation, and new ones are discovered. Because of these reasons, the fossil fuel depletion date is not entirely certain, risking the continued use of this resource and a slower transition.

The transition to renewable energy sources is seen as a crucial step in reducing the carbon emissions footprint of energy production. The transition from fossil fuel involves significant economic challenges and opportunities. While industries heavily reliant on fossil fuel may face economic restructuring, those investing in renewable energy stand to gain, potentially leading to growth and job creation.

2.2 Alternative fuels

Glass manufacturers must comply with environmental regulations governing emissions from combustion processes. The glass industry is continually engaged in research and development to identify alternative fuels and enhance energy efficiency. Alternative fuels are energy sources derived from materials other than fossil fuels. These fuels are generally more environmentally friendly compared to conventional fossil fuels due to their renewable nature, low to zero carbon emissions, or ability to be used for renewable energy storage. This section will examine the major types of alternative fuels, exploring their production processes, environmental benefits, and potential applications.

Biomass is an alternative fuel generally accepted as a renewable energy source that could mitigate environmental impact. Unlike fossil fuels, using biomass for combustion contributes to the CO₂ cycle, i.e., carbon dioxide released when fuel is burned and absorbed during photosynthesis, making it a carbon-neutral or low-carbon option. This contrasts with finite conventional fuels like coal, oil, and natural gas. Biomass can include organic materials like wood, agricultural residues, or other plant-based fuels. Some estimations show that biomass could meet up to 20% of the glass industry's total energy needs [9]. However, biomass generally has a lower energy density than fossil fuels, meaning that larger volumes are required to produce the same energy. This can have a negative effect on storage, transportation, and combustion processes, creating significant logistics, technology, and infrastructure investments.





Biogas, unlike biomass, is a gaseous fuel produced by naturally occurring anaerobic activity, i.e., organic waste anaerobic digestion. Biogas mainly consists of CH₄ (50-75%), CO₂ (25-50%), N₂ (2-8%) and traces of other compounds. Biogas is produced in a controlled environment, and collection contributes to the mitigation of GHG for two reasons. First, using these renewable energy sources, an equivalent amount of energy in oil-equivalent resources is preserved, saving corresponding CO₂ emissions. Secondly, anaerobic digestion also occurs in nature, where methane enters the environment uncontrolled, e.g., from wetlands, termites, etc. Primary sources of biogas are:

- 1. Agriculture (cattle and poultry manure);
- 2. Municipal waste (wastewater treatment, landfills);
- 3. Industrial and commercial wastes.

Wasted methane is estimated to have 28 times higher global warming potential in 100 years and 82 times higher in 20 years. A methane collection reduces GHG escape and recovers wasted energy potential. Recent studies show what recovered biogas can be injected into an existing gas network infrastructure [15]. However, the anaerobic digestion process is sensitive to a various of inhibitory substances. The unexpected appearance of feedstock contamination with heavy metals, ammonia, and sulfides can affect the anaerobic digestion process and even stop it. It could take two or more months to restart biogas production.

Syngas or synthetic gas is a combustible gas typically containing CO (30-60%), H₂ (25-30%), and CH₄ (0-5%), together with a small amount of CO₂, H₂S, H₂O, etc. Synthetic gas is produced by the more rapid thermochemical process, compared with anaerobic processes requiring a long feedstock retention time. Depending on the gasification technique, produced gas can be generated instantly in entrained flow gasification. However, syngas has a lower LHV compared with biogas. Depending on feedstock and gasification conditions, syngas LHV can be approximately 7.5 MJ/Nm³, while biogas is typically higher at 21.5 MJ/Nm³.

Syngas production is feedstock flexible. It is possible to produce syngas from degradable and non-degradable organic and synthetic materials, i.e., agricultural (straws, oat husks, sunflower hulls, olive pits, etc.), industrial (wood processing and demolition wastes, paper industry, etc.), and municipal solid wastes (paper, plastics, textile, etc.). Thermochemical conversion is conducted under controlled conditions and is insensitive to feedstock type and its contamination compared with anaerobic digestion.

Hydrogen has gained attention due to its potential to be used as a clean and sustainable energy source. H_2 combustion produces water vapour as the primary byproduct, making it a clean fuel in terms of carbon emissions. However, this fuel is not commonly used in glass-melting furnaces and is still in the industrial development stage. A pioneering initiative has been undertaken to launch a pilot project to transition from natural gas to hydrogen in the glass industry. One of the solutions is to use a thermochemical conversion, i.e., gasification, to convert biomass into H_2 . Research [16] concluded that hydrogen production through gasification offers the best hydrogen yield. Currently, the outcomes are limited to laboratory-scale experiments, and it will take some time before reaching industrial-scale implementations.

Ammonia is one of the new frontier among alternative fuels. It is also considered a zero-carbon-containing fuel with several advantages compared to hydrogen. Ammonia is considered as a hydrogen carrier, which is much more energy-dense (15.6 MJ/l) compared to liquid H₂ (9.1 MJ/l). That means it has a reasonable advantage during marine and land transportation. NH₃ also has higher storage efficiency and a more extended storage period because of a higher boiling point (-33 °C) compared with hydrogen's cryogenic temperature (-253 °C). Such temperature differences make ammonia easier to liquefy in terms of energy and do not necessarily require evaporators to combust. However, NH₃ also has a disadvantage related to high concentrations of fuel NOx during combustion, which must be treated accordingly by implementing selective catalytic or non-catalytic reduction (SCR / SNCR) systems. In addition, it is worth noting that ammonia is a toxic and corrosive substance, which poses significant challenges in its handling. Proper storage and transportation of this fuel are crucial to ensure safety and efficiency. This necessitates the use of specialized equipment, such as corrosion-resistant containers and advanced ventilation systems, to mitigate the risks. Furthermore, personnel involved in the handling of ammonia must undergo rigorous training to manage potential hazards effectively.





Electricity stands out as one of the major alternative energy options for various energy sectors transitioning from the consumption of fossil fuels. It is the same energy source used in all glass melting furnaces as a driving force for auxiliary and other equipment. It supports various stages of the glass production process, i.e., melting, heating and annealing, finishing and handling. It can also be used as an exclusive energy source or combined with fossil fuels for furnace heating. On an industrial scale, electricity is used for resistive heating, passing a current through molten glass. Electric furnaces are employed in specific specialised applications, such as producing high-quality glass for electronics or laboratory equipment. They have several advantages, but relatively high energy costs limit their wide application.

2.3 Fuel properties comparison

Observed fuels have highlights and drawbacks in certain technological and environmental aspects. On the one hand, fossil fuels are already standard because of their reliability, competitive cost and easy access. Fossil fuels generally have a high calorific value, fixed composition, and other preferable parameters (low concentrations of impurities, water vapour, hydrogen sulphide, ammonia, etc.). Because of these reasons, all related infrastructure, i.e., gas network, auxiliary equipment and combustion technology, are developed according to the properties of fossil fuels. On the other hand, its further use raises environmental, security, and social concerns, named in section 2.1. Europe's target is to reach a net-zero carbon emission by 2050, meaning further consumption of fossil fuel must be phased out.

Here is why alternative low or zero-carbon fuels play a crucial role. During combustion, CO_2 emissions come from carbon-containing fuels, i.e., C_xH_y compounds. Its carbon footprint depends on carbon content and heating value (Fig. 2.5). In some cases, fuels with higher carbon content by weight (%) and calorific value, e.g., fuel oil, can emit less CO_2 emissions (270 kg CO_2 -eq/MWh) compared with lower carbon content and lower calorific value fuel like coal (355 kg CO_2 -eq/MWh) [12]. Meanwhile, LPG emits approximately 254 kg of CO_2 per MWh [17]. Biomass-based alternative fuels are considered low or net-zero CO_2 emitters because of their relatively fast regeneration and carbon neutrality. Depending on the biomass type, its mass can double in hours (algae) to several years (fast-growing woody biomass species). During woody biomass photosynthesis, atmospheric CO_2 is converted to glucose to build the primary structural material in cell walls and ensure raw material growth. Later, this material can be used for energy production following CO_2 release. Once emitted, it will be absorbed by growing biomass, thus initiating a cycle where CO_2 is continually recycled, ensuring renewability.

Fig. 2.5 demonstrate how much CO_2 can be saved during combustion of various fuel sources to produce one tone of glass mass. Estimated hydrogen and ammonia CO_2 emissions savings do not include the calculation of embedded CO_2 released during the production and transportation of these alternative fuels. It is assumed that all H₂ and NH₃ are produced using renewable energy sources, making them green hydrogen and green ammonia.

For the calculations, it is presumed that producing one ton of glass requires 7.8 GJ of energy [3]. Coal serves as the benchmark for CO₂ emissions, releasing the highest amount (769 kg) of CO₂ per tonne of glass. Meanwhile, fuel oil emits 585 kg/t_{glass}, and gaseous fossil fuels such as LPG and natural gas emit 550 and 444 kg/t_{glass}, respectively. Wood biomass combustion stands out for its significantly (up to 90%) reduced CO₂ emissions compared to fossil fuels. It is estimated that the converting from coal to biomass for heat production would save up to 693 kg of CO₂ emissions per ton of glass.





184 219 325 Emitted CO₂ kg/t_{zlass} Saved CO₂ kg/t_{zbe} 693 769 769 769 585 550 444 76 COAL FUEL OIL LPG NG BIOMASS H₂ NH₃ (WOOD) (GREEN) (GREEN)

Fig. 2.5 Comparison of CO₂ emissions from different fuel sources for production of 1 ton of glass

Unfortunately, the current green hydrogen and ammonia production capacity is insufficient to meet industrial energy needs. Moreover, alternative hydrogen production methods, such as grey, black, and brown, rely on fossil fuels like natural gas or coal for processes like steam methane reforming (SMR) and gasification. These methods produce substantial CO₂ emissions as a by-product and worsen global warming due to additional energy-intensive conversion steps. On the other hand, blue hydrogen production, which incorporates carbon capture, utilization, and storage (CCUS) technologies, also involves an energy-intensive process and contributes to a carbon footprint. Transitioning to hydrogen and ammonia also necessitates significant infrastructure changes linked to CO₂ emissions.

No fuel source can be unequivocally evaluated. Because of this reason a comparison table of various parameters provided to define what alternative fuel could be most promising for the glass industry (Table 2.1). It should be noted that electricity and coal are not included. Electricity is considered a secondary energy source, meaning that all comparable parameters are related to a primary source. As long as a primary source is uncertain, all related parameters and emissions are unknown and cannot be compared. Coal is considered as an outdated source of fuel. Also, neither of these fuels has the same gaseous state as alternative fuels.

When comparing only gas fuel, fossil fuel stands out with a high calorific value of 25-45 MJ/m³. Such a high calorific value also leads to a high energy density, which gives fossil fuels a more significant advantage over alternatives due to conventional marine and land transportation and storage. Also, all the currently used supply accounting and burning infrastructure has already been adapted to the use of this fuel. Despite these advantages, further use of this fuel is no longer possible for the reasons mentioned above.





Table 2.1 Fuels parameters comparison

			Fo	ssil fuels		Alternative fuels			
Para	meters	Natural Gas (NG)	Liquid Petroleum Gas (LPG)	Fuel Oil	Syngas (coal, air-blown)	Biogas	Syngas (biomass, plasma assis., air-blown)	Hydrogen	Ammonia
	H ₂	0%	0-1%	0%	9.8%[18]	0-2%[19]	22.7%[20]	90-100%	0-5%
c	CO	0-1%	0-1%	0%	6.7%[18]	0-1%[19]	36.4%[20]	0-1%	0-1%
	CO ₂	0-5%	0-1%	0%	16.2%[18]	30-50%[19]	0.7%[20]	0-1%	0-1%
ractio	CH ₄	80-95%	0-2%	0%	2.8%[18]	50-80%[19]	0%[20]	0-1%	0-1%
Molar fr	$C_{x}H_{y}$	Varies	95-100%	95-100%	1%[18]	-	-	Varies	Varies
	NH₃	0-1%	0-1%	0%	-	Traces[19]	-	0-1%	95-100%
	H ₂ O	Varies	0-10%	0.1-2%	-	Saturation[19]	5.3%[20]	0-1%	Varies
	N ₂	Varies	Varies	Varies	63.2%[18]	0-1%[19]	34.9%[20]	Varies	Varies
Wobbe in.		48-53 MJ/m ³	70-87 MJ/m ³	-	12-15 MJ/m ³	25-30 MJ/m ³	10-18 MJ/m ³	45-56 MJ/m ³	18-21 MJ/m ³
LHV		35-45 MJ/Nm ³	94-116 MJ/Nm ³	35-40 MJ/kg	2.9 MJ/m ^{3*}	15-25 MJ/m ³	7.1 MJ/m ^{3*}	10-11 MJ/m ³	10-12 MJ/m ³
Advantages		Developed production, distribution and	Developed production, distribution and	Developed production, distribution and	Developed production, distribution and	Reduction of fossil fuel consumption. CH ₄ recovery and GHG pollution prevention	Reduction of fossil fuel consumption. Reduction of biomass waste	Reduction of fossil fuel consumption. Net-zero CO ₂ emitter	Reduction of fossil fuel consumption





	combustion technologies	combustion technologies.	combustion technologies	combustion technologies	Reduction of local bio-waste.			Net-zero CO ₂ emitter.
Disadvantag es	Fossil CO ₂ emitter. Major CH ₄ methane emitter (system leaks)	Fossil CO2 emitter	Fossil CO ₂ emitter	Highest (NOx, SOx, CO ₂ , PM) emission factors. Fossil fuel CO ₂ emitter	Slow and feedstock- sensitive process. Slow adaptivity to energy demand. Need desulfurization	Has lower LHV compared with biogas. Distribution and combustion need further investigation	Higher transportation and storage expenses are due to low energy density. Distribution and combustion need further investigation	Equipment must be chemically compatible because of high corrosivity and toxicity of NH ₃ .
Challenges	Not viable fuel in the long term. Sensitive to geopolitical factors and market price fluctuations	Not viable fuel in the long term. Sensitive for geopolitical factors and market price fluctuations	Not viable fuel in the long term. Sensitive for geopolitical factors and market price fluctuations	Not viable fuel in the long term. Sensitive for geopolitical factors and market price fluctuations	It is challenging to ensure a high production capability	Lower energy density compared with NG can be insufficient for existing plants. Management of toxic CO	Lower energy density compared with NG can be insufficient for existing plants	Management of toxic NH₃
Risks	Supply disorder is caused by natural or geopolitical factors	Supply disorder is caused by natural or political factors	Soil-groundwater contamination. Supply disorder is caused by natural or political factors	Risk of supply disorder caused by natural or political factors	Production downtime due to feedstock contamination or failed parameters	Risk of personnel exposure to toxic CO	Higher explosion risk: wide LEL and UEL limits, low ignition energy, and high volatility	Risk of personnel exposure to toxic NH ₃

*Estimated



Biogas has similar properties to natural gas due to its close (up to 80%) methane content. This concentration can be increased to 99% by applying enrichment technologies (upgrading/purification) such as membrane filters. However, this technology has significant drawbacks. First, its production process sensitive to environmental factors (temperature changes, pH, raw material contamination). These changes can eliminate the entire culture and take at least several months to recover. It may take more time to meet market demand. Hydrogen and ammonia are receiving much research attention because they are considered carbon-neutral fuels. Depending on the production process and fuel source, they can still impact the climate differently depending on production source. Around 75-80% of global hydrogen produced is grey, made from fossil fuel - natural gas. The lowest carbon intensity alternative fuels can be achieved by producing these fuels from renewable energy sources using sustainable, i.e., green methods. Carbon-neutral fuels also face transportation and storage challenges. The energy equivalent of liquefied hydrogen occupies 2.7 times and ammonia 1.8 times the volume of methane. This increases transportation and storage costs. In addition, the storage period of hydrogen at cryogenic temperature (-253 °C) reaches seven days due to boiling and small molecular size. Moreover, carbon-neutral products exhibit up to 34% higher average investment costs compared to carbon-based counterparts and are still not economically viable [16].

Syngas made from biomass show great potential as fuel for glass industry applications. This type of fuel combines all the best characteristic features. Synthetic fuel produced from renewable raw materials makes it a sustainable energy source. The syngas production process can reduce plant-based biomass wastes, such as lignin, straw, sunflower husks, etc. At the same time, this allows the use of local energy sources, creates a workplace and increases independence from imported fossil fuels. Syngas contains exclusively hydrogen and carbon monoxide. Depending on the chosen gasification agent, e.g. air, oxygen, steam or its combination, syngas can also include a significant amount of nitrogen. Nitrogen reduces the volume fraction of combustible compounds and the total calorific value. For example, a syngas produced by a plasma-assisted air-blown gasifier with 7.1 MJ/m³ LHV is shown. This value can be increased by removing the nitrogen and using pure oxygen as an oxidizer. Studies of biomass gasification [21] have demonstrated that oxygen improved the overall composition of syngas and increased the calorific value because it promotes the release of heat in the combustion stage and reactions of the gasification. Therefore, the LHV of the produced gas is increased.

Syngas production is a fast and high thermochemical conversion of all organic material into gaseous combustible products and char. The Gasification process can take as few seconds under entrained flow gasifying conditions, which means that syngas production can react to rapid energy demand changes instantly and is flexible for high energy demand changes. Moreover, combustible gases can be produced from both degradable and non-degradable biomass. On the contrary, anaerobic digestion is a relatively slow process which can use exceptionally fast degradability biomass. Slow degradability biomass e.g., wood, straws, etc. is challenging to decompose because anaerobic bacteria aggravated break down into complex compounds. The remaining solid byproduct of biomass thermochemical conversion - char can be used as a fuel or for agricultural purposes to increase soil fertility and crop productivity. Its porous and low-density properties based on nanotechnology studies has led to increased studies for water purification processes [22].

When evaluating gases for industrial applications, it is essential to consider their availability and compatibility with existing distribution and combustion equipment. The Wobbe index, a key metric for assessing the interchangeability of fuel gases, plays a crucial role in this evaluation. A closer alignment of the Wobbe index with the gases currently used in the glass industry indicates a higher level of compatibility, which is a significant factor to consider when adopting new energy sources.

In order to determine the perspective of using renewable fuel for energy production, a comparison was made with conventional fuel types. Figure 2.6 shows indicative prices for various types of energy per 1 MWh calculated for the 2023-2024 period [23]–[30].







Fig. 2.6 Comparison of energy prices of different types of fuel

The presented graph demonstrates high price differences ranging from 30 Eur (Natural Gas) to 397 Eur (Green Ammonia). Primary fuel prices are the most economically favourable compared to alternative fuels; however, their perspectives are finite. In addition, grey or hybrid energy sources produced from fossil fuels are susceptible to market fluctuations, primarily due to natural gas quotations [30], [31]. Predicting its future price range is challenging, primarily due to geopolitical reasons. On the other hand, alternative fuels also associated with secondary energy products involve additional conversion processes, materials, and energy sources, inevitably leading to higher final fuel prices. Studies also show that the price of biomass-feedstock matter affects the biomethane production price.

In summary, the outlook for the future use of fossil fuels appears unfavourable due to adverse economic feasibility and limited resources. Alternative fuels exhibit varying advantages and disadvantages across different aspects. However, biomass-derived syngas is emerging as the most promising renewable energy source. This is attributed to its comparable heating value and increased compatibility with existing distribution networks and infrastructure, such as pipelines and valve materials. When comparing the prices of sustainable energy sources, it's evident that syngas and biogas are similarly priced and are approximately two times cheaper than green hydrogen and even four times cheaper than green ammonia. Produced syngas are more versatile, faster, and cleaner than biogas, making them a significantly superior fuel option.

3 Assessment of potential of gasification technologies

3.1 Advantage of plasma assisted entrained flow gasification

Gasification is a thermochemical process that converts biogenic residues and wastes into useful gaseous and solid products in an oxygen-deficient environment. Gasification represents a more promising and efficient thermochemical conversion than traditional incineration for extracting energy and reducing emissions. The gas produced in this process is called synthesis gas (syngas), mainly containing components such as H₂, CO, CO₂, etc. Syngas produced in gasification can potentially deliver valuable products, such as Waste-to-Value and Waste-to-Chemicals solutions, and be used in internal combustion engines, gas turbines, fuel cells, liquid fuel production, chemical synthesis or can be converted into heating oil, and electricity generation [18], [32].





Syngas is a viable alternative to fossil fuels, requiring minimal furnace modifications due to its comparable characteristics. It is produced through a thermochemical process that converts solid fuels into synthesis gas in a high-temperature, oxygen-starved environment created within a specific type of gasifier. Over time, various gasification technologies have been developed and optimised to improve efficiency, reduce emissions, and lower costs. Now, gasifiers are categorised into different types, which depend on application, feedstock, and requirements for syngas quality. In this study, we will distinguish these main gasifiers:

- 1. Entrained Flow;
- 2. Plasma-Assisted Entrained Flow;
- 3. Bubbling Fluidised Bed;
- 4. Circulating Fluidised Bed;
- 5. Dual-Fluidised Bed;
- 6. Updraft;
- 7. Downdraft.

Gasifiers classified based on fluid dynamics (updraft, downdraft), modes of heat transfer to the gasification process (autothermal, gasifiers/directly heated gasifiers or allothermal, gasifiers/indirectly heated gasifiers), gasification agents (air, oxygen or steam blown), and pressure (atmospheric or pressurised) [33]. The choice of gasifier type depends on the feedstock, product quality requirements, economic conditions, and other specific requirements. A review and comparison of gasifying technologies is presented, equipping the audience with a thorough understanding of the field.

3.1.1 Entrained flow (EF) gasifier

Entrained flow gasifiers are among the most researched and developed types in coal conversion to combustible gas in industrial-scale applications. It is estimated that approximately 94% of all registered gasification projects worldwide that are in operation or the planning stage are based on entrained flow gasification [34]. This type of reactor is known to operate under challenging conditions with the ability to achieve better cold gas efficiency and a near 100% carbon conversion rate [35]. EF reactors are versatile and can be used for a wide range of solid feedstock, e.g., petroleum coke, refinery residues, other solid, high carbon-containing materials, and even liquid fuels. Lignite and biomass can also be used as feedstock after preparation.

Entrained flow gasification is fed with finely ground feedstock and oxidant (Fig 3.1). The feedstock is pulverized to a size of 0.1 - 1 mm to ensure airborne ability and mass transfer. The oxidant, chosen from air, oxygen, and steam or water mixtures, plays a crucial role in the process. The high temperature of the gasification process evaporates water rapidly, which later is consumed during char and steam-methane reforming and water-gas shift reaction to produce valuable H₂ and CO gases [36]. However, improving the efficiency of the process requires additional energy and equipment.







Fig. 3.1 Left - Basic principle of entrained flow gasifier process, Right - Tampa coal IGCC 260 MW gasification plant (TRL 10), Polk County, Florida (The U.S. Department of Energy and Tampa Electric Company, 2000)

When using a solid feedstock, the feedstock dust is pneumatically fed with a pressurized oxidizer to the top of the shaft-type reactor and dispersed. The entrained flow gasification process occurs at high temperatures (1300 - 1700 °C) and high pressures (25 - 45 bar). The temperature of the raw gases that are produced is above 1000 °C. Under these conditions, regular feedstock particle residence time takes up to a few seconds [37]. In these extreme conditions involving high operating temperatures and pressures, entrained-flow gasifiers mandate intricate reactor designs and the utilisation of sophisticated construction materials. Because of high reaction temperature and oxygen-to-fuel ratio, produced syngas consist mainly of H₂, CO, and CO₂ and a negligible amount of methane and other gases [38]. High temperature also causes the ash to melt, forming a slag that is removed from the gasifier's bottom. The slagging range limits the selection of suitable feedstock due to different ash melting points.

Moreover, the aggressive nature of molten ash poses a significant challenge, leading to a considerable reduction in the lifespan of the gasifier's refractory lining and the requirement for higher-quality gasifier materials [37]. Despite this drawback, due to their high reaction temperature, these reactors offer a distinct advantage in efficiently eliminating tar.

3.1.2 Plasma-assisted entrained flow (PAEF) gasifier

The operation of plasma-assisted entrained flow gasifiers is based on the gasification of raw materials and the treatment of gaseous products with a plasma-generated high-energy electric arc. PAEF is advantageous over other gasification technologies due to its ability to process challenging and contaminated feedstocks, such as municipal solid waste, automotive residues, and waste from electrical and electronic equipment [39]. Feedstock is processed by high-temperature, i.e., up to 5000 °C [20] plasma torch in the absence of free oxygen (Fig 3.2). During this interaction, organic components are converted to low molecular hydrocarbons (syngas), while inorganic components transform into vitreous slag. With the help of thermal energy, large molecules are cracked down into smaller species, promoting the decomposition reactions of organic compounds and ensuring the absence of tars and furans, resulting in gas with lower trace contaminants than other gasifier types. High-temperatures tar cracking leads to higher calorific value and cleaner content syngas suitable for internal combustion engines and solid oxide fuel cells without a tar removal process [40].







Fig. 3.2 Left - Basic principle of Plasma-Assisted Entrained-Flow gasifier process, Right - Swindon waste and biomass residues 20 MW gasification plant (TRL 10), Swindon, United Kingdom [41]

Plasma-assisted entrained flow gasifiers exhibit better flexibility than EF gasifiers in feedstock composition and size, making them suitable for various materials. This adaptability is especially beneficial for waste materials, given their heterogeneous composition, batch variations, and challenging utilisation in other processes. Plasma-assisted gasifiers have high efficiency for biomass gasification and energy recovery. High reactor temperatures result in better biomass degradation into smaller biochar particles, decreasing biochar yield overall [22]. Moreover, the tar cracking reaction is intensified, breaking down tars under high-temperature plasma. This leads to a low concentration of tars, particularly heavy components, in the product gas [20].

It's crucial to acknowledge that many gasifier designs encounter significant challenges at the commercial scale. However, despite relatively high capital and energy costs, small-scale gasifiers are often recommended for hydrogen or electricity production from biomass. The electricity demand can be substantial, representing around 15–50% of the gross plant output. These challenges, however, have not deterred the application of plasma gasification to various waste streams, including biomedical waste. It has shown promise in both on-site and offsite processing of medical wastes, primarily due to its ability to handle microbes, viruses, and hazardous components.

In conclusion, plasma gasification is a relatively new and advantageous technology, offering potential benefits over conventional thermal gasification methods. Its ability to operate at extremely high temperatures, produce clean syngas, and handle diverse waste materials makes plasma gasifiers a promising solution for waste-to-energy applications.

3.1.3 Bubbling fluidised bed (BFB) gasification

The Bubbling Fluidized Bed is a straightforward fluidized bed reactor developed for power generation. Unlike conventional boilers, the combustion process occurs in a bed at the chamber's bottom, and heat-capture water tubes are often placed within the BFB for efficient energy capture. The reaction time is longer due to the lower temperature than in a pulverized coal furnace.

The BFB gasifier involves a vessel with a grid at the bottom for uniformly distributing the gasifying agent (see Fig 3.3). A moving bed of fine-grained material is located above the grid, into which prepared biomass feed is introduced. The gasifying agent is supplied in two zones: the first within the fluidized bed to maintain the required temperature and the second above the bed to convert entrained unconverted volatiles and char





particles into fuel gas. To increase BFB versatility, an additional pulverized coal burner might be used above the fluidized bed combustion chamber to enhance efficiency when burning waste or biomass.



Fig. 3.3 Left to Middle - Basic principle of bubbling fluidized bed gasifier process, [42], Right - Società Tecnologie Avanzate Low Carbon SpA biomass 500 kWth gasification plant (TRL 7-8), [43]

The reactor is water-wall cooled, featuring refractory lining in the lower portion for erosion/wear protection. The reactor temperature is regulated between 700 - 900 °C by adjusting air distribution in the furnace, and heat is removed by water walls and the convection pass, resulting in relatively low tar conversion rates. The lower combustion temperature compared to pulverized coal combustion reduces nitrogen oxide formation, potentially eliminating the need for additional nitrogen oxide removal (SCR / SNCR) systems, depending on environmental restrictions.

Bubbling Fluidized Bed gasifiers leverage a bed material fluidized by the gasification agent or the product gas. BFB reactors feature moderate fluidization velocities, with gas bubbles dominating the fluid mechanic behaviour. In fluidized bed gasifiers, biomass is kept fluidized by an upward-flowing gasifying agent with a velocity of 1.2 m/s. The fluidised flow effectively controls the residence rate of solids and volatiles. The lower velocity minimizes material elutriation from the reactor, and there is no recycling of collected solids back to the lower bed, as in the Circulating Fluidized Bed reactor (see Section 3.1.4). Biomass is mixed with inert or catalytic bed material to enhance heat transfer, and various processes like drying, devolatilization, oxidation, and gasification co-occur in the conversion zone. The fluidized bed consists of particles with diameters between 0.5 and 1 mm, exhibiting clear boundaries to the freeboard, the space above the fluidized bed. The feedstock size also influences the reactor's heating rate and char residence time.

While the BFB gasifier has unique advantages, including the absence of a recycling system, simplifying design and lowering capital and operating costs for units below ~100 MW, challenges such as low temperature in the top section causing high tar concentrations in the syngas need attention. Also, challenges such as bed agglomeration and deposits on heat transfer tubes may arise, especially with certain biomasses containing elements like potassium and chlorine. Nevertheless, the BFB reactor offers the potential for integrating multiple functionalities through bed materials and the freeboard region, contributing to process intensification.

3.1.4 Circulating fluidized bed (CFB) gasification

Circulating fluidized beds (CFB) reactors, well known for conducting moderate to fast heterogeneous catalytic and combustion reactions, offer distinct advantages. These include large solids circulation rates for high heat transfer, continuous catalyst regeneration in catalytic reactions, and achieving smaller reactor sizes due to high solids fluxes and gas rates. The inorganic heat carrier exhibits catalytic properties, causing char adhesion to the catalyst surface. The circulating design allows for continuous abrasion of sorbent particles, facilitating the





exposure of fresh reactive surface areas. CFB reactors have advantages in gas-solid contact efficiency and less axial dispersion than conventional fluidized beds. CFB reactors share similarities with Bubbling Fluidized Bed Reactors, differing primarily in the residence time of gases and volatiles. A distinctive feature of these reactors is the utilisation of recirculating heated sand from a secondary char combustor to supply heat and fluidizing velocity in the lower bed region for CFB gasification units, typically 3.3 m/s.

CFB reactors encompass both dry and semi-dry systems. The widely applied dry CFB system effectively removes Hg, HF, HCL, SO₂, and SO₃ from a flue gas stream. It utilises hydrated lime Ca(OH)₂ injected directly into a CFB reactor and water, operating close to adiabatic saturation temperature. A fluidized bed reactor uses a tall vessel (Pyrolysis Reactor) where gas–solids interactions occur throughout the entire reactor height, devoid of a distinct interface between the bed and freeboard. The structure of a CFB reactor is depicted in Fig. 3.4.



Fig. 3.4 Left - Basic principle of circulating fluidized bed gasifier process [42], Right - Metsä Fibre Joutseno biomass 48 MW gasification plant (TRL 10), Lappeenranta, Finland [44]

Differentiating CFBs from fluidized bed reactors, the former involves a first fluidized bed unit for the pyrolysis reaction. The temperature inside the reactor is considered much lower compared with conventional boilers and typically deviates within the 850 - 950 °C range [45] under higher than atmospheric pressure (up to 10 bar) [46]. Low temperatures are maintained to avoid ash melting and agglomeration. After pyrolysis, a processed feedstock with the inorganic heat carrier laden with produced char is fed into a second fluidized bed unit - the combustor. Before entering the combustor, a high-temperature cyclone separator is used for gas cleaning. After cyclone processing, gaseous products are drafted to the cooler, where volatile matter cools down to the condensation point and is separated from the flue gas stream. Later, gas is additionally filtered with bag filters before being partially recycled and emitted into the atmosphere. Before repeatedly entering the pyrolysis reactor, recycled flue gas is reheated. The second unit combusts the char within the inorganic heat carrier, generating heat for the first pyrolysis unit.

Notable features include mild steel construction, no moving parts, and the ability to handle only dry solids. Despite these benefits, challenges arise, such as the need for significant heights to ensure satisfactory gas residence times and the potential for higher gas velocities causing tube erosion and solids attrition. Also, the higher particulate matter concentration downstream may necessitate improvements to the particulate removal device.

3.1.5 Dual-fluidised bed (DFB) gasifier

One of the latest developments in the middle of the 20th century was the dual-fluidized bed (DFB) gasifier, initially dedicated to coal gasification and then converted to biomass conversion. DFB is considered a more advanced gasification system because of higher heat transfer efficiency and syngas quality. The gasification process in any gasifier is highly endothermic and energy-consuming. For this reason, a key concept is integrating energy production with syngas production processes. DFB comprises two interconnected reactors: a bubbling





fluidized bed gasifier, which converts biomass into raw syngas or producer gas, and a circulating fluidized bed combustor, which oxidizes the residual char and generates heat for the gasification process (Fig. 3.5).



Fig. 3.5 Left - Schematic of dual-fluidised bed reactor scheme [33], Right - GoBiGas biomass 20 MW gasification plant (TRL 8), Gothenburg, Sweden [47]

These reactors are controlled separately and split by a soft loop valve to maintain the distinction between the processes, prevent combustion air from entering the gasifier, and ensure nitrogen-free products. The energy produced from exothermic reactions is used to carry out endothermic gasification reactions. That is why DFB is referred to as an allothermal gasification system. An additional or excess fuel inlet is provided to the riser to maintain the reactor's temperature and ensure optimal gasification process operation. The biomass feed is supplied to the gasifier using a screw conveyor.

Additionally, a cyclone separator separates the heat-carrying materials and the flue gases in the riser section. The heat-carrying material, consisting of bed particles and char, is returned to the gasifier to provide heat for the gasification reactions. At the same time, the flue gases are directed to the heat recovery system for further utilisation.

3.1.6 Updraft (UD) gasifier

Updraft (UD) gasifiers are a prevalent and straightforward type of gasifier for solid fuels. Generally, fixed-bed gasifiers in updraft configuration rely on gravity feed for fuel and extracting coarse ash at the bottom. The biomass undergoes continuous decomposition, moving downward through zones of drying, degasification, oxidation, and reduction in the reactor. Distinct zones are established for each gasification step, and partial combustion of the feedstock supplies the necessary heat to sustain the process.

In UD gasifiers, the feedstock is introduced from the top, and preheated air is supplied from the bottom through a grate (Fig. 3.6). The gasification temperature is controlled by regulating the feedstock fed ratio or air, oxygen and steam ratio in the gasification medium. Feedstock and oxidising agents currently move counter-downwards in the gasifier, with the combustion zone at the lower portion, where char and volatiles are formed. During partial combustion, the temperature rises to approximately 730 °C. This temperature exceeds the ignition temperature of carbon, and a highly exothermic combustion reaction takes place, warming up the upward-moving gas and reducing the zone above the combustion area.

Further up, the hot gases pyrolyze and dry the incoming fuel, cooling the gases to about 200 - 300 °C. Pyrolysis releases volatiles and forms a certain amount of tar, some of which may leave with the outgoing gases. The overall process efficiency is relatively high due to the low exit gas temperatures, and filtration through the packed bed helps lower the particulate content of the outgoing gas. Using a cyclone for particulate matter capture may





not be feasible, and the gas, already at a lower temperature, can be wet scrubbed and dried before being sent to the engine.



Fig. 3.6 Left - Basic principle of updraft fix-bed gasifier process, Right - Società Tecnologie Avanzate Low Carbon SpA 5 MW biomass gasification (TRL 7-8) [43]

The devolatilization process produces volatiles and char, with volatiles exiting with outgoing gas, while char undergoes combustion. Produced syngas usually has a higher tar concentration than downdraft gasifiers (see section 3.1.7). About three-quarters of the biomass energy content typically appears in the syngas, accounting for radiation heat losses. The remaining one-quarter of the energy is used to heat up the char content. This char can be gasified further to enhance gas yield. The typical char yield varies from 20% to 40% by dry biomass weight, and reactivity varies based on char composition, primarily carbon and nitrogen content.

One limitation of updraft gasifiers is the restricted feed particle size. The height-to-diameter ratio of the moving bed is typically greater than 3:1, with a recommended diameter limit to avoid material flow problems. Fine feed particles may be entrained and left undecomposed, leading to size range or minimum feed size specifications.

3.1.7 Downdraft (DD) gasifier

Downdraft (DD) fixed-bed gasifiers, also known as co-current gasifiers, are the most common gasifiers. The term "downdraft" is used because air moves in the same direction as the biomass feedstock. This design yields a clean mixture of combustible gases in the exit stream, and its main advantage is producing syngas with low tar content, making it suitable for gas engines. The reaction regions are different compared with updraft gasifiers. The oxidation (combustion) zone is below the pyrolysis zone, and the reduction zone is below the oxidation zone. In downdraft gasifiers, biomass feedstock is supplied from the top, gasification agent (air or O_2) flows downward, and syngas exits from the bottom. The gasification agent is introduced into the middle of the bed (combustion zone) above the stationary grate.

The position of the oxidation zone is a critical parameter in downdraft gasifier design. The basic principle of a downdraft gasifier is presented in Fig. 3.7.







Fig. 3.7 Left - Basic principle of downdraft fix-bed gasifier process. Right - WALTER mobile 100 kW gasifier Volter (TRL 10), Emå Dairy in Hultsfred, Sweeden [48]

The syngas flows out from the bottom of the gasifier beneath the stationary grate. The solid fuel moves downward through various zones, including a drying zone, a pyrolysis zone, an oxidization (combustion) zone, and a reduction zone. The drying zone, maintaining a temperature typically at 200 °C or lower, vaporizes moisture from the solid fuel. In the pyrolysis zone, temperatures reach 500 - 600 °C, depending on the equivalence ratio. The equivalence ratio (ER) is the actual fuel/air ratio to the stoichiometric fuel/air. The oxidation zone experiences the highest temperature, up to 1500 °C, where tars and heavy hydrocarbons are thermally cracked into lighter hydrocarbon gas species. Below the oxidation zone, the remaining char, ash, syngas, and water vapour flow through the reduction zone. In this zone, steam gasification, water-gas shift, and SMR reactions occur, producing hydrogen.

One of the significant advantages of downdraft fixed-bed gasifiers is the cracking down of tars in the oxidation zone, resulting in lower tar content in the syngas compared to other gasifier types. However, ash and other fine particles can contaminate the syngas, necessitating a separation device (e.g., two-stage cyclone and ceramic filter) to clean the gas. A cyclone captures large particulate matter; the gas can either be wet, scrubbed, or cooled and passed through a sand or cloth filter. In addition, a drawback of this gasifier type is the relatively high temperature of the exit syngas, leading to lower gasification efficiency.

3.2 Comparison of gasification technologies

Various gasification technologies are employed to transform organic materials into diverse products. Depending on the desired products, these methodologies encompass a spectrum of processes designed to convert carbonaceous substrates, such as coal, biomass, or waste, into synthesis gas or, in other words, biomass-to-x (BtX) products. Based on the previously performed characteristics comparison of the alternative fuels, it is decided to compare gasification technologies only in producing synthetic gas, which could be a feasible alternative in exchange for fossil fuels in the glass industry. As an alternative to syngas direct combustion, these compounds can also be used for ammonia, hydrogen (including carbon capture) or synthetic fuels - BtX production. Lepage et al. [49] investigated gasification processes for optimal hydrogen yield, and Swanson et al. [50] analysed the production of FT-Fuels from biomass via EF and fluidised bed gasification. Studies have found that EF-based technology requires additional process steps, leading to higher investment costs and, therefore, higher absolute uncertainty in the calculated fixed capital investment [16]. However, higher carbon conversion offset these, resulting in lower production costs.





Synthetic gas quality and yield depend on feedstock composition, gasification conditions and gasifier type. The latter must be chosen in advance to get the best syngas composition suitable for the glass industry. Each technology exhibits distinct characteristics tailored to specific applications, requiring individual scrutiny to ascertain suitability. Table 3.1 observes and evaluates the parameters of the EF, PAEF, BFB, CFB, DFB, UD, and DD gasifiers. The table includes the most relevant cases of biomass gasification technologies based on physical and chemical parameters. All examples of gasification technologies utilize woody biomass as a feedstock, except for entrained flow gasification. For this specific case, publicly available commercial data provided by an industrial manufacturer was chosen. The gasifier with the most suitable parameters for the glass industry will be highlighted. The table compares the prevalent and promising gasification technologies' key parameters, products, advantages, and drawbacks. This comparative table exclusively focuses on biomass applications utilising various technologies. This decision is rooted in recognising biomass as a fuel source characterised by negligible carbon dioxide emissions, thus playing a crucial role in mitigating environmental impact.

Biomass physical parameters are essential to gasification process efficiency, syngas and char composition. A low moisture, low ash content with high calorific value feedstock is preferable. However, in nature, biomass has a wide range of compositions, which depend on the location of the origin, the soil composition, the type of plant itself, and even the harvesting season. Ensuring a proper composition will be a challenge that needs to be dealt with. Biomass feedstock parameters are critical for efficient, reliable and long-term gasifier operation.

One of the most significant differences is observed in the required feedstock size. The dimensions and configuration of the fuel particles play a crucial role in dictating both the challenges associated with the fuel's transportation and delivery and the fuel's subsequent performance within the gasifier. Entrained flow and plasma-assisted entrained flow gasifiers require a small fraction of feedstock, which can be pulverised co-currently with a compressed oxidiser. An acceptable fraction size (0.01-1 mm), high pressure and temperature and sufficient equivalence ratio in EF reactors lead to enhanced degradation of carbon, tar, oil, phenols, and other liquid by-products into hydrogen, carbon monoxide, and light hydrocarbons. Increasing carbon conversion rates reduces residual carbon, the main ash quality parameter, which is a crucial factor in reusing this waste as a raw material for glass production.

In contrast, bubbling, circulating, and dual fluidised bed gasifier reactors use a more significant fraction size (< 6 mm) of feedstock, which may not have the necessary fluid-like behaviour, leading to uneven gasification and decreased gasifier performance. These larger particles might also lack the necessary surface area for efficient gasification reactions. Updraft and downdraft gasifiers also have specific feedstock fraction requirements, with a fraction that is too small, causing resistance through the layer and potential clogging.



Table 3.1 Parameters of	comparison	of solid fuel	gasification	technologies
-------------------------	------------	---------------	--------------	--------------

	Ра	irameters	Entrained flow	Plasma-assisted Entrained Flow	Bubbling Fluidized Bed	Circulating Fluidized Bed	Dual-Fluidised Bed	Updraft	Downdraft
iss Feedstock	Required feedstock size, mm		0.01 -1 (Dust)	0.01 -1 (Dust)	<6[51]	<6[51]	<40[52]	30[53]	30[53]
		HHV, MJ/kg	15.3-22.0[53]	15.3-22.0[53]	15.3-22.0[53]	15.3-22.0[53]	15.3-22.0[53]	15.3-22.0[53]	15.3-22.0[53]
Biomass		Required moisture, %	<12[54]	<12	<20	<20	<40[52]	<20[55]	<20[55]
	As	h content, %	6-35[54]	6-35	<20	<20	40[52]-50[56]	1-5[53]	1-5[53]
	Temperature, °C		1300-1700 [54]	>2000	800-1100[51]	800-1100[51]	650–870[52]	600-800	800-1000
-	F	Pressure, bar	25-45[54]	1-30	1-2	1-2	1-10	<30[51]	<30[51]
	%	H ₂	12.0-18.0[57]	22.7[20]	5.0-16.3[55]	15.0-22.0[55]	34.1-37.2[52]	10.0-14.0[55]	15.0-21.0[55]
	sition,	со	21.0-31.0[57]	36.4[20]	9.9-22.4[55]	13.0-15.0[55]	16.8-24.4[52]	15.0-20.0[55]	10.0-22.0[55]
leters	'ngas compos	CO ₂	7.0-16.0[57]	0.65[20]	9.0-19.4[55]	13.0-15.0[55]	21.7-28.1[52]	8.0-10.0[55]	11.0-13.0[55]
Paran		CH₄	0.0-4.0[57]	0[20]	2.2-6.2[55]	2.0-4.0[55]	10.6-11.6[52]	2.0-3.0[55]	1.0-5.0[55]
	pical s	C _x H _y	n.d.[57]	n.d.	0.2-3.3[55]	0.1-1.2[55]	Not defined[52]	Not defined[55]	0.5-2.0[55]
	Ţ	N ₂	n.d.[57]	34.9[20]	41.6-61.6[55]	Remaining[55]	Not defined[52]	Remaining[55]	Remaining[55]
		X products [*]	MeOH, H ₂ , NH ₃ , FT, FF, DME, SNG/NH ₄ [16], biochar	MeOH, H ₂ , NH ₃ , FT, FF, DME, SNG/NH4, CH4, FF, biochar	MeOH, H ₂ , FT, FF[16], biochar	MeOH, H ₂ , NH ₃ , FT, FF[16], biochar	MeOH, H ₂ , NH ₃ , FT, FF[16]	H ₂ , CH ₄ [32], FF, biochar	H ₂ , CH ₄ , biochar





LHV (MJ/m³)	6.6-10.5[58]	8.1-11.7[20]	3.7-8.4[55]	3.6-5.9[55]	9.6-11.3**	3.7-5.1[55]	4.0-5.6[55]
Tar, g/Nm³	Negligible	Negligible	<1-3[55]	2-30[55]	0.1-18[52]	10-150[55]	0.01-6[55]
η (cold gas), %	65-80	<90[16],[59]	60-80	70-85	75[56]-80	60-70	60-80[53]
Wastes	Vitreous slag, "Black water" when using coal ¹ ,	Vitreous slag	Char-ash, Fly ash, Tars, Silica Sand	Char-ash, Fly ash, Tars	Ash, Fly ash, Tars	Char-ash, Fly ash, Tars	Char-ash, Fly ash, Tars
Residual carbon, %	12-15	<15	1-5	1-5	<1	5-15	10-20
CAPEX	Small range of licensing	High capital cost; Licensing, permits, and approvals acquired.	Licensing, permits, and approvals acquired.	Licensing, permits, and approvals acquired.	Licensing, permits, and approvals acquired.	Licensing, permits, and approvals acquired.	Licensing, permits, and approvals acquired.
OPEX	Insurance and Administrative, Environmental Compliance and Waste, Consumables (feedstock, electricity, oxygen, etc.), Competent labour, Maintenance, Energy and Feedstock expenditures	Insurance and Administrative, Environmental Compliance and Waste, Consumables (feedstock, electricity, oxygen, etc.), Competent labour, Higher expenditures for equipment maintenance	Insurance and Administrative, Environmental Compliance and Waste, Consumables (feedstock, Sand, Catalysts, Ca(OH) ₂), etc.) Competent labour, Maintenance, Energy and Feedstock expenditures	Insurance and Administrative, Environmental Compliance and Waste, Consumables (feedstock, Sand, Catalysts, Ca(OH) ₂), etc.), Competent Iabour, Maintenance, Energy and Feedstock expenditures	Insurance and Administrative, Environmental Compliance and Waste, Consumables (feedstock, Sand, Catalysts, Ca(OH) ₂), etc.), Competent labour, Maintenance, Energy and Feedstock expenditures	Insurance and Administrative, Environmental Compliance and Waste, Consumables, Competent labour, Maintenance, Energy and Feedstock expenditures	Insurance and Administrative, Environmental Compliance and Waste, Consumables Competent labour, Maintenance, Energy and Feedstock expenditures
Advantages	High feedstock variability; high flexibility due to fast start-up procedure. Fewer auxiliary equipment, compact layout; fewer wearing	High temperatures and efficiency; vide range of feedstock compatibility (suitable for wet and low calorific value feedstock; High-quality syngas (low tar content)	High conversion rate with low tar content compared with UDG and DDG; uniform heat transfer between material; wide range of fuel fraction; vigorous	High conversion rate with low tar content compared with UDG and DDG; uniform heat transfer between material; wide range of fuel fraction ⁴ ; vigorous	High conversion rate with low tar content compared with UDG and DDG; uniform heat transfer between material; wide range of fuel fraction;	Proven technology, Low-cost process, fuel flexible (tolerant), proven technology	Proven technology, Lower tar content compared with UDG. Cyclone not essential ⁴



35



	parts and less maintenance costs, longer operation period		mixing and long particle residence times suitable for lower quality fuels. Low-temperature fluid bed prevention from ash melting	mixing and long particle residence times suitable for lower quality fuels. Low-temperature fluid bed prevention from ash melting	suitable for lower quality fuels. Low- temperature fluid bed prevention from ash melting		
Disadvantages	Sensitive for feedstock (type, moisture, ash content and brittleness), Higher fuel preparation costs, e.g. drying, crushing and milling, Wet waste	High capital and operational cost Plasma Torch Wear and Tear. Lack of operating commercial examples (low level of TRL)	Large bubble size may result in gas bypass through the bed ⁴	Heat transfer less efficient than bubbling fluidized bed; Erosion of the equipment due to the abrasiveness of the bed material	Heat transfer less efficient than bubbling fluidized bed; Erosion of the equipment due to the abrasiveness of the bed material	Requires intensive cleanup from tars ⁴	Low carbon conversion ratio; more fuel sensitive; higher slagging; lower heating value compared with UDG
Developed TRL	3-4	3-4	6-7	6-7	8	7-8	10
Challenges	Getting the right hydrogen/CO ratio, Raw-gas cooling	Monitoring Polychlorinated dibenzodioxins emissions; Ensuring high electrical energy supply	Challenging start-up and shutdown procedures; Pressure fluctuations	Size of fuel particles determine minimum transport velocity	Size of fuel particles determine minimum transport velocity	Reduction of tar and fine particles, Finance unfeasibility of feedstock supply and power sales contract is not long-term secured	Finance unfeasibility of feedstock supply and power sales contract is not long- term secured
Risks	Inhomogeneous Feedstock	Hazardous environment in case of malfunction. Risk of unexpected technological challenges due to the lack of examples of long-term performance	Agglomeration; High velocities of bed material may result in equipment erosion	Agglomeration; High velocities of bed material may result in equipment erosion	Agglomeration; High velocities of bed material may result in equipment erosion	Environmental pollution and work hazardous in case of malfunction	Environmental pollution and work hazardous in case of malfunction

*- MeOH (Methanol), FT (Fisher-Tropsch syncrude), FF (Further fuels), DME (Dimethyl ether), SNG (Synthetic natural gas)

**-Estimated



The potential of gasification processes and waste upcycling for sustainable energy production is immense. High ash content tolerance enhances the flexibility to utilise a wide range of biomass and its waste, opening up avenues for higher potential exploitation. However, it's important to note that BFB, CFB, DFB, UD, and DD gasifiers face challenges under high temperatures. At BFB, CFB, and DFB temperatures higher than 600 - 1100 °C (depending on feedstock ash melting point), feedstock particles start agglomerating, disrupting the fluidisation process and reducing reactor efficiency. Similarly, agglomerates can clog the gas flow passage in fixed-bed UD and DD reactors. Entrained and plasma-assisted entrained flow gasifiers are designed to operate at much higher temperatures (~1500 °C), slagging and drawing the slag toward the bottom of the gasifier for discharge. The use of plasma to produce syngas has increasingly been applied with pure waste treatment for its ability to almost entirely decompose the input material into tar-free syngas and an inert, environmentally stable product. Tars are still considered the major obstacle in applying biomass and waste gasification, especially for fixed and fluidised beds in operating temperatures below 900 °C [39].

Generally, entrained flow gasifiers usually have higher H_2 , CO, C_xH_y , overall LHV and cold gas efficiency. A competitor for entrained flow gasifiers could be Dual-Fluidised Bed reactors, which also have great efficiency due to high carbon conversion ratio. This is achieved by combining a circulating fluidised bed (CFB) combustor and a bubbling fluidised bed BFB gasifier, making the system autothermal (heat is generated directly by the partial oxidation inside the gasifier). These systems improve the carbon conversion efficiency compared with the single fluid bed design [52].

Entrained flow gasification slag contains the coarse slag discharged from the bottom of the gasifier and the fine slag (fly ash) carried by the gas flow. During thermochemical conversion, a certain amount of fuel is not entirely gasified, and the gasification slag contains some residual carbon. Experimental measurements shows that entrained flow gasifiers slag contains from 11.64 to 15.13% [60]. Dual-fluidised bed gasifiers exhibit shallow carbon content in ash due to a more thorough combustion process and typically contain no more than 1% carbon content. Conversely, due to the low reaction rate, temperature and poor oxygen access, the most significant carbon content (up to 20%) is determined exclusively in updraft and downdraft fixed-bed reactors. As low as possible, slag's residual carbon content is preferred for several reasons. First, lower residual carbon content means a higher carbon conversion ratio, higher yield of produced syngas, improved conversion efficiency and enhanced energy recovery. Higher reaction temperatures can increase the biomass feedstock degradation rate and reduce carbon content [22]. Second, the low carbon content slag can serve as a raw material in the glass industry, offering the prospect of replacing raw feedstock like high-value soda ash, limestone, and dolomite.

However, the carbon content of this waste is critical as it influences the quality of the glass product, including its transparency, and has the potential to form metallic inclusions which can damage refractories and cause manufacturing defects. Carbon is detrimental to glass production primarily because it affects the clarity and colour of the glass and can form metallic inclusions in the melt which sink to the bottom of the tank due to higher density, and then drill into the oxide refractories, causing damage. When the glass melt contains carbon, carbon and / or metallic inclusions can form [61], which appear as dark spots or streaks in the glass. These inclusions reduce the transparency and quality of the glass, making it less suitable for applications where transparency and aesthetics are essential, such as in windows, bottles, or optical lenses [62]. It can cause defects in the final glass product, such as bubbles or blisters, compromising its mechanical strength and overall quality. Transparency requirements are less strict for beverage and pharmaceutical containers made of amber glass. Carbon can also affect the melting behaviour of the glass batch, leading to excessive energy consumption and production costs. This interference with the melting process often requires higher temperatures and longer processing times to obtain a homogeneous melt. Therefore, to ensure the production of high-quality, multi-purpose transparent glass, reducing the amount of carbon in the raw materials used for glass production is economically crucial. In plasma gasification, residual carbon can be retained as process soot. It can be significantly lower than that produced in conventional pyrolytic processes due to H₂ and steam inhibiting residual carbon formation [39].

Syngas also contains some tar, which can contribute to the glass batch's carbon fouling. Hence, a lower concentration is desirable, while high tar concentrations can clog and foul downstream equipment's gas lines, valves, sensors, and even the engine's combustion chambers [56], [59]. This risk arises when the tar's relatively high (~350 °C) condensation temperature is reached. In the Dual-fluidising bed, recirculating fly ash in the presence of alkali salts can control tar species [56]. However, fluidised bed gasifiers generally tend to produce gaseous products contaminated with higher levels of fly ash, resulting from the loss of bed material, mainly silica sand. Research [20] shows that tar-derived pyrolysis oil can be used as an ethanol additive to improve the performance of an internal combustion engine. In addition, other authors have investigated the fact that





pyrolysis oil blends with diesel and biodiesel can emit significantly less NOx and CO compared to a blend without pyrolysis oil [63].

4 Techno-economic assessment

The capital investment for each technology varies considerably and is influenced by numerous factors, notably feedstock composition. Consequently, prudent evaluation mandates a comprehensive consideration of the resultant products and the associated capital and operational expenses. Entrained flow gasifiers are more expensive than bubbling fluidised bed units on a dry tons basis but more economical on a heat output basis. This section will identify major cost investment and operational cost drivers and highlight options for cost reductions.

The operating costs of gasification technology, which include everyday expenses like wages and real estate rent, are typical across all gasifiers, but differences exist. For instance, the electricity consumption of a plasma assisted entrained flow gasifier is about 30-50% higher than the amount of electricity used during the plasma discharge compared with a regular gasifier. Scaling up plasma-assisted gasification may increase plasma torch efficiency and reduce electricity consumption. However, this can only be presumed at this moment, and further investigation is needed. This high electricity consumption in PAEF gasifiers leads to its more intense thermal processes, resulting in better gasification efficiency and higher-quality syngas production. The use of plasma also allows for the treatment of a broader range of feedstocks, including hazardous or difficult-to-process materials, further enhancing the versatility and effectiveness of the gasification process. It also positively affects the quality and quantity of the produced gas and the recyclable waste. This plasma-assisted gasification versatility for feedstock has a noteworthy advantage compared with other technologies. Also, a good advantage is a quick reaction to load changes, which is difficult, especially in fixed-bed reactors.

When assessing the cost-effectiveness of alternative fuels, it is imperative to consider the capital expenditure (CAPEX) associated with the technology being adopted. This financial aspect is often overlooked but can significantly impact the overall cost-effectiveness of a project. A comprehensive analysis of the implementation of different gasification technologies has been conducted. Investigated that finding analogous facilities for comparison regarding size, feedstock utilised, and final product is challenging. Moreover, projects that provide publicly available descriptions are usually very general because the information is considered confidential business data, and specific process details are unknown. Nevertheless, pilot and industrial cases within the observed conditions are accepted for the indicative price. Those cases differ significantly in technical characteristics due to the more complex production technology and specialized equipment, e.g. production of higher (more advanced) value-added products like methanol, Fisher-Tropsch syncrude, dimethyl ether and further fuels (see Table 3.1). For instance, a 35 MWth capacity GoBiGas biomass Dual-Fluidised bed gasification plant project investment amounted to 230 million US\$ in 2014. However, this first-of-its-kind plant has an additional methanation complex to purify syngas to a biomethane level suitable for the national natural grid of Sweden (Fig. 4.1).

GoBiGas [64] project aimed to demonstrate that this technology can convert biomass into grid-quality biomethane with up to 65-70% conversion efficiency. However, the current status of this project is non-operational [65]. During this project, several key lessons were learned: managing gas quality and tar levels in the gasifier-produced gas; controlling flue gas emissions effectively; addressing challenges with product gas cooling and gasifier start-up; managing operational challenges associated with fuel feed; and evaluating and optimizing activated carbon adsorption beds [47]. There were also several other close attempts to develop waste plasma-assisted gasification plants with bubbling fluidised bed reactors and separate plasma processing devices: in 2014, a 20 MWth refuse derived fuel (RDF) gasification in Birmingham, United Kingdom and a 100 MWth RDF gasification demonstration plant in Ontario, Canada, and but both these projects surrendered and no longer active. However, in 2022, a new similar design plant to demonstrate waste using plasma gasification to produce bio-methane was successfully launched in Swindon, United Kingdom. It became the first facility in the world to convert municipal waste into grid-quality biomethane. However, the total investment cost of this project is estimated at 34 million Eur (Adjusted Price) [66]. Such innovative projects' investment cost is many times higher





compared to all other gasification technologies because of the early stage of development. They are typically designed to address emerging issues and necessitate structural reorganisation, resulting in significantly higher installation time and costs than established commercial gasification plants.



Fig. 4.1 A Schematic overview of the GoBiGas-plant including a list of the major process steps [56]

Fig 4.2 presents the approximate installation price for industrially and commercially developed gasifier types, found in publicly available data sources [48], [67]–[70]. For comparison reasons, their installation prices are expressed in the same relative unit, i.e., million euros per one thermal megawatt.





Cost data collected from literature and correlations show significant variability for the same power capacity, with installations in the examples ranging from 2005 to 2018. For this reason, prices have been recalculated, taking into account inflation. Based on a review of installed units, Entrained flow and Bubbling fluidised bed gasifiers were found to have a minimal relative installation cost per megawatt because of the simplicity of the gasification process and the reduced need for auxiliary equipment. Their installation cost is between 0.06 and 0.15 million





EUR per 1 MW of installed thermal power. However, it is elusive to find a suitable commercial example of the plasma-assisted entrained flow gasifier for synthesis gas production that could be used to evaluate the installation and operating costs. Considering the installed production capacities, the necessary investments for technological devices, their start-up, and factory construction must be assessed comprehensively. Investment costs are highly dependent on the installation power of the equipment. When calculating the relative costs of capacity or production, they are generally lower for larger plants. It was decided to calculate a medium-sized, i.e. 1 MW syngas combustion technology encompassing plasma-assisted entrained flow gasification installation, operating costs, and cash flow.

The techno-economic feasibility study of EF, PAEF, BFB, CFB, DFB, UD, and DD gasifiers syngas production costs are estimated using various technical and economic parameters, such as product yields, capital, and raw material prices. According to the HORIZON-RIA GIFFT proposal No. 101122257, assumed that torrefied wood is used as energy raw material, which has a lower calorific value - 20.1 MJ/kg [71]. The price of torrefied wood was accepted to be in free different cases: min. price – 107.83 Eur/t, avg. – 171.53 Eur/t, max. – 235.23 Eur/t (Adjusted Price) [72]. The entrained flow gasifier is expected to work with 70% efficiency, assuming that remaining energy withdraws with char and is emitted as heat losses. Other OPEX members - electricity and gas prices and employee salaries –are based on the economic factors of Lithuania, whose GDP per capita is close (89 %) to the EU average [73]. Expenses are strongly influenced by economic assumptions that are not known with absolute precision, leading to uncertainty in the model's output (i.e., production costs). While acquiring more data can reduce this uncertainty, complete certainty in the model's estimates is unachievable, particularly for new plant projects and Plasma-assisted entrained flow gasification technologies, which lack real-life operational experience. Given that the EU and the world are moving towards sustainable energy, it is accepted that investments in gasification and oxygenation facilities will naturally become cheaper due to increased market demand and supply considering market demand and competition.

Capital Expenditure (CAPEX) refers to the fund's most significant expense on equipment and installation. CAPEX includes the installation price of the entrained flow gasifier and gasification assistance - Plasmatron. It is assumed that the relative installation cost of entrained flow gasifier is 200 000 (Eur/MW_{output}), and assisted plasmatron 35 941 for 1 MW of total gasifier energy output power. More detailed investment and operating costs of the Plasmatron are presented by Bromberg et al. [74]. Investments are evaluated according to the scenario, where there will only be investments in main technological equipment and their start-up, considering that technological equipment will be implemented in already existing plant projects with relevant buildings and necessary infrastructure.

Operational expenditures (OPEX) costs of one production unit include costs for energy, biomass (feedstock), maintenance, materials used, and personnel for operating the gasification and combustion process (Table 4.1). It is assumed that the variable operating costs associated with plasmatron variable OPEX will be equated to 0.002 Eur. Four scenarios were adopted to evaluate the calculations: low electricity and natural gas price (MIN), average price (AVG), high price (MAX), and green electricity case (GEC).

OPEX	Units	MIN	AVG	MAX	GEC
Electricity Power price	€/kWh	0.10	0.25	0.50	0.01
Feedstock price	€/t	107.83	171.53	235.23	235.23
Gasifier OPEX	€/kWh	0.015	0.015	0.015	0.015
Natural gas	€/kWh	0.015	0.035	0.08	0.08

Table 4.1 Summarised production operating costs of plasma-assisted entrained flow gasifier

The gasifier is assumed to operate throughout non-stop the year (8 760 hours per year). Such a regime is adopted on the basis that the glass-melting furnace must work without stopping until the next capital equipment maintenance. Interest is calculated with a 5% investment discount rate. The project's cash flow analysis was





evaluated for a 25-year operating period compared with the import of natural gas on the Lithuanian border without taxes. Since the price of this fuel is very volatile and difficult to predict, four different scenarios, i.e., MIN, AVG, MAX, and GEC scenarios, were taken into account for profitability and depicted in Fig. 4.3.

For comparison reasons plasma-assisted entrained flow gasifier installation cash flow compared with other (EF, BFB, CFB, DFB, UD, DD) gasification technologies.



Fig. 4.3 Cashflow scenarios of plasma assisted entrained flow gasification compared with natural gas. Scenario MIN (A), AVG (B), MAX (C), and GEC (D)

The techno-economic calculation results show that investments and operational costs of each gasification technology reach the break-even point at the first few operating years only with the highest energy (electricity and natural gas) prices, i.e., case MAX, except plasma-assisted entrained flow gasification. PAEF gasification is profitable if this project is implemented with green power generation plants, assuming all electricity will be free. If fossil fuel and electricity prices represent average or low-price case scenarios, all observed gasification solutions for transitioning from fossil fuels will become unfeasible. However, the financial profitability of the project could be improved with state subsidies that promote the installation of renewable energy sources.

A comprehensive review of potential alternative syngas production processes and their integration into the glass industry identifying alternative fuels with renewable biomass origins that possess properties similar to those of natural gas, specifically in terms of providing sufficient heat and maintaining high purity levels during combustion. The promising solution involves the use of synthesis gas (syngas) produced with a plasma-assisted entrained flow gasifier. This advanced gasification technology leverages plasma to enhance the production of syngas, significantly increasing its calorific value while simultaneously reducing tar content. The elevated calorific value ensures that the syngas can effectively replace natural gas, providing the necessary thermal energy for glass production processes. Furthermore, the operation of entrained flow gasifiers generates ash, commonly referred to as vitrified slag. This byproduct can be utilised in glass production, thereby contributing to a circular economy and minimizing the carbon footprint of the glass manufacturing process. The integration of vitrified slag not only reduces CO₂ emissions but also addresses the disposal challenges associated with conventional ash waste. Despite these advancements, it is important to note that biomass plasma-assisted entrained flow





gasification need further research and development in the following GIFFT project stages to overcome existing technological barriers, e.g., residual carbon in ash. It needs to be minimised to improve carbon conversion efficiency and energy recovery and preserve the transparency and quality of the produced glass.

Plasma-assisted gasification with inclusive flow is a promising approach with both environmental and economic benefits. However, the adoption of this process requires supportive policies and subsidies, changing the tax environment for fuels, especially fossil fuels. In conclusion, the adoption of plasma-assisted entrained flow gasification presents a viable pathway, offering both environmental and economic benefits. However, achieving widespread implementation requires supportive policies and subsidies in case of competitive prices of fossil fuels.

5 Conclusions and recommendations

A comprehensive examination of the glass industry's production processes and fuel utilisation underscores its heavy reliance on fossil fuels, particularly natural gas. This dependence is evident in manufacturing flat glass for construction and glass containers for food and beverage applications. Given its substantial energy requirements, up to 85% of which are met by fossil fuels, the glass industry emerges as a pivotal sector ripe for transition towards sustainable energy sources. This imperative is driven by mounting concerns over climate change, societal welfare, and global initiatives to foster sustainable production practices. The transition requires the adoption of alternative fuels derived from renewable biomass sources. Such fuels must represent similar properties of natural gas, notably their calorific value and purity, to ensure minimal impact on glass melting furnace modification and operation. A review of alternative gas reveals a promising substitute gas that meets these stringent criteria.

It is estimated that transitioning from natural gas to wood biomass could yield a remarkable reduction of up to 90% in CO₂ emissions, translating to potential savings of 693 kg of CO₂ emissions per ton of glass produced. Solid biomass must convert into a gaseous form known as syngas to provide a suitable form of fuel for a glass-melting furnace. While hydrogen and ammonia are regarded as carbon-neutral alternatives, their adoption is hindered by transportation, storage, and cost challenges, as well as the lack of capacity for producing (especially green H₂ or NH₃) for new energy markets and the slow pace at which such capacity can be built. Their prices range from 8.3 to 17.3 times higher, respectively, compared to syngas. Various gasifiers, such as entrained flow, fluidized, and draft gasifiers, facilitate this thermochemical conversion, yielding distinct gaseous and solid byproducts.

Plasma-assisted entrained flow reactors are distinguished by their ability to operate under challenging conditions, achieving superior cold gas efficiency and carbon conversion rates. These gasifiers are capable to adapt to energy demand fluctuations rapidly and are highly flexible in accommodating high energy demands and different fuel types. PAEF syngas composition features high H₂ and CO concentrations with negligible tar concentrations. Moreover, the vitrified ash slag produced by the plasma-assisted entrained flow gasification process could substitute conventional raw materials in the glass industry, potentially displacing valuable raw materials such as soda ash, limestone and dolomite. However, a lower amount of residual carbon in the ash content is preferred. Otherwise, it can compromise the quality and mechanical integrity of the final glass product.

A thorough techno-economic assessment of plasma-assisted entrained flow gasification necessitates an evaluation of both capital and operational expenditures. The scarcity of pilot and industrial-scale implementations under comparable conditions poses challenges for precise cost estimations. Initial projections indicate the profitability of plasma-assisted entrained flow gasification when integrated with green power generation plants, assuming zero electricity costs. In scenarios where fossil fuel and electricity prices remain competitively lower, sustained financial viability may necessitate state subsidies to incentivise the adoption of renewable energy sources. Notably, economic projections are subject to inherent uncertainties, underscoring the need for a more detailed analysis encompassing factors such as production costs and lifecycle assessments.

Further insights into the techno-economic and environmental assessment of plasma-assisted entrained flow gasification will be presented in the forthcoming stages of the GIFFT project, particularly within Work Package





7. This package will comprehensively examine process feasibility, efficiency, production costs, and environmental impact, thereby enriching understanding of the technology's viability and potential contribution to sustainable industrial practices.

Recommendations:

- Syngas typically exhibits a lower LHV in comparison to the conventional fuel used in the glass industry, namely natural gas. To mitigate this, enhancing the calorific value becomes imperative, achieved by substituting the oxidizing agent with oxygen. This substitution prevents dilution with nitrogen and concurrently reduces NOx emissions.
- The Wobbe Index, an indicator of the interchangeability of fuel gases such as natural gas, is an important factor to consider. In order to aligning the syngas Wobbe number with that of natural gas necessitates ensuring a syngas mixture characterized by a higher heating value and diminished specific gravity gas content. This entails maximizing the presence of hydrogen (H₂) and methane (CH₄) within the syngas composition.
- Stringent control over residual carbon ash content, which has a crucial influence on glass transparency and quality, is mandated to realize the objective of substituting conventional raw materials such as soda ash, limestone, and dolomite. Maintaining optimal gasification conditions, encompassing requisite temperature, pressure, and equivalence ratio, is pivotal to achieving the highest carbon conversion ratio. Supplementary methodologies, including feedstock pretreatment and catalytic gasification, could be applied if possible.
- In scenarios where plasma-assisted entrained flow gasification lacks access to free renewable energy sources and electricity costs remains moderate (low to average), proactive financial intervention, such as state subsidies, is advisable. Such support mechanisms can facilitate the installation of renewable energy infrastructure or alleviate production costs, thereby strengthening the economic viability.





6 Literature

- [1] "Glass production global distribution by type | Statista." https://www.statista.com/statistics/1059469/distribution-of-glass-production-globally-by-type/ (accessed May 14, 2024).
- [2] E. Rodriguez, P. Eder, A. Villanueva, and H. Saveyn, *End-of-Waste Criteria for Glass Cullet*, no. January. 2011.
- [3] A. Schmitz, J. Kamiński, B. Maria Scalet, and A. Soria, "Energy consumption and CO2 emissions of the European glass industry," *Energy Policy*, vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 142–155, 2011, doi: 10.1016/j.enpol.2010.09.022.
- [4] "SCHOTT_Yearly Report.pdf."
- [5] S. Formung, "Technische Informationen zu Verbindungselementen 1," *Würth*, vol. 720, pp. 1–65, 2005.
- [6] G. A. Khater, E.M. Safwat, Junfeng Kang, Yunlong Yue, and A.G. A. Khater, "Some Types of Glass-Ceramic Materials and their Applications," *Int. J. Res. Stud. Sci. Eng. Technol.*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 1–16, 2020.
- [7] B. M. Scalet, M. Garcia Muñoz, Q. Sissa Aivi, S. Roudier, and D. S. Luis, *Best Available Techniques (BAT) Reference Document for the Manufacture of Glass*. 2013. doi: 10.2791/69502.
- [8] "Energy: Using Hydrogen for Glass Features The Chemical Engineer." https://www.thechemicalengineer.com/features/energy-using-hydrogen-for-glass/ (accessed May 15, 2024).
- [9] P. W. Griffin, G. P. Hammond, and R. C. McKenna, "Industrial energy use and decarbonisation in the glass sector: A UK perspective," Adv. Appl. Energy, vol. 3, no. February, p. 100037, 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.adapen.2021.100037.
- [10] "Crude Oil Prices 70 Year Historical Chart | MacroTrends." https://www.macrotrends.net/1369/crudeoil-price-history-chart (accessed May 15, 2024).
- [11] M. Y. Ahmed and S. A. Sarkodie, "Counterfactual shock in energy commodities affects stock market dynamics: Evidence from the United States," *Resour. Policy*, vol. 72, no. August, p. 102083, 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.resourpol.2021.102083.
- [12] S. Caurla, P. Delacote, F. Lecocq, and A. Barkaoui, "Stimulating fuelwood consumption through public policies: An assessment of economic and resource impacts based on the French Forest Sector Model," *Energy Policy*, vol. 63, pp. 338–347, 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.enpol.2013.07.111.
- [13] G. El-Montasser and O. Ben-Salha, "A new methodology for assessing the energy use–environmental degradation nexus," *Environ. Monit. Assess.*, vol. 191, no. 9, 2019, doi: 10.1007/s10661-019-7761-0.
- [14] "When Fossil Fuels Run Out, What Then? MAHB." https://mahb.stanford.edu/library-item/fossil-fuelsrun/ (accessed May 15, 2024).
- [15] M. Cavana and P. Leone, "Biogas blending into the gas grid of a small municipality for the decarbonization of the heating sector," *Biomass and Bioenergy*, vol. 127, no. July, p. 105295, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.biombioe.2019.105295.
- V. Dieterich, A. Hanel, S. Bastek, H. Spliethoff, and S. Fendt, "Entrained flow gasification-based biomassto-X processes: A techno-economic assessment," *Energy Convers. Manag.*, vol. 301, no. December 2023, p. 118061, 2024, doi: 10.1016/j.enconman.2024.118061.
- [17] M. A. Perea-Moreno, Q. Hernandez-Escobedo, F. Rueda-Martinez, and A. J. Perea-Moreno, "Zapote seed (Pouteria mammosa L.) valorization for thermal energy generation in tropical climates," *Sustain.*, vol. 12, no. 10, pp. 1–21, 2020, doi: 10.3390/su12104284.
- [18] C. A. Scholes et al., "The effects of minor components on the gas separation performance of membranes





for carbon capture," Energy Procedia, vol. 4, pp. 681–687, 2011, doi: 10.1016/j.egypro.2011.01.105.

- [19] X. Y. Chen, H. Vinh-Thang, A. A. Ramirez, D. Rodrigue, and S. Kaliaguine, "Membrane gas separation technologies for biogas upgrading," *RSC Adv.*, vol. 5, no. 31, pp. 24399–24448, 2015, doi: 10.1039/c5ra00666j.
- [20] P. C. Kuo, B. Illathukandy, W. Wu, and J. S. Chang, "Plasma gasification performances of various raw and torrefied biomass materials using different gasifying agents," *Bioresour. Technol.*, vol. 314, no. June, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.biortech.2020.123740.
- [21] X. Xiang, G. Gong, C. Wang, N. Cai, X. Zhou, and Y. Li, "Exergy analysis of updraft and downdraft fixed bed gasification of village-level solid waste," *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, vol. 46, no. 1, pp. 221–233, 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.ijhydene.2020.09.247.
- [22] R. Muvhiiwa, A. Kuvarega, E. M. Llana, and A. Muleja, "Study of biochar from pyrolysis and gasification of wood pellets in a nitrogen plasma reactor for design of biomass processes," J. Environ. Chem. Eng., vol. 7, no. 5, p. 103391, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.jece.2019.103391.
- [23] "Natural gas commodity prices U.S. and Europe 2023 | Statista." https://www.statista.com/statistics/252791/natural-gas-prices/ (accessed Jun. 28, 2024).
- [24] "The price of the LPG during the last 6 months in Lithuania :: Fuelo.net." https://lt.fuelo.net/fuel/type/lpg/6months?lang=en (accessed Jun. 28, 2024).
- [25] "Heating Oil PRICE Today | Heating Oil Spot Price Chart | Live Price of Heating Oil per Ounce | Markets Insider." https://markets.businessinsider.com/commodities/heating-oil-price/euro (accessed Jun. 28, 2024).
- [26] F. M. Baena-Moreno, D. Sebastia-Saez, L. Pastor-Pérez, and T. R. Reina, "Analysis of the potential for biogas upgrading to syngas via catalytic reforming in the United Kingdom," *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, vol. 144, no. January, 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2021.110939.
- [27] T. Králík *et al.*, "Biomass price as a key factor for the further development of biogas and biomethane use
 Methodology and policy implications," *Sustain. Energy Technol. Assessments*, vol. 60, no. September, 2023, doi: 10.1016/j.seta.2023.103492.
- [28] S. Ahmadvand and T. Sowlati, "The attractiveness of syngas production from forest-based biomass for pulp mills considering carbon pricing and government regulations," *Renew. Energy Focus*, vol. 45, pp. 287–306, 2023, doi: 10.1016/j.ref.2023.04.007.
- [29] "ANALYSIS | How much does a kilogram of green hydrogen actually cost? Well, it's complicated | Hydrogen Insight." https://www.hydrogeninsight.com/production/analysis-how-much-does-akilogram-of-green-hydrogen-actually-cost-well-it-s-complicated/2-1-1492217 (accessed Jun. 28, 2024).
- [30] J. González-Arias, M. A. Nawaz, F. Vidal-Barrero, and T. R. Reina, "A profitability study for catalytic ammonia production from renewable landfill biogas: Charting a route for the next generation of green ammonia," *Fuel*, vol. 360, no. December 2023, 2024, doi: 10.1016/j.fuel.2023.130584.
- [31] A. Isella, A. Lista, G. Colombo, R. Ostuni, and D. Manca, Gray and hybrid green ammonia price sensitivity to market fluctuations: the Russia-Ukraine war case, vol. 52. Elsevier Masson SAS, 2023. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-443-15274-0.50364-4.
- [32] Ö. Tezer, N. Karabağ, A. Öngen, and A. Ayol, "Gasification performance of olive pomace in updraft and downdraft fixed bed reactors," *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, vol. 48, no. 60, pp. 22909–22920, 2023, doi: 10.1016/j.ijhydene.2023.02.088.
- [33] N. Hanchate, S. Ramani, C. S. Mathpati, and V. H. Dalvi, *Biomass gasification using dual fluidized bed gasification systems: A review*, vol. 280. Elsevier Ltd, 2021. doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.123148.
- [34] A. Tremel, D. Becherer, S. Fendt, M. Gaderer, and H. Spliethoff, "Performance of entrained flow and





fluidised bed biomass gasifiers on different scales," *Energy Convers. Manag.*, vol. 69, pp. 95–106, 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.enconman.2013.02.001.

- [35] F. Kartal and U. Özveren, "Energy and exergy analysis of entrained bed gasifier/GT/Kalina cycle model for CO2 co-gasification of waste tyre and biochar," *Fuel*, vol. 331, no. April 2022, 2023, doi: 10.1016/j.fuel.2022.125943.
- [36] M. Paiva, A. Vieira, H. T. Gomes, and P. Brito, "Simulation of a downdraft gasifier for production of syngas from different biomass feedstocks," *ChemEngineering*, vol. 5, no. 2, 2021, doi: 10.3390/chemengineering5020020.
- [37] J. J. Hernández, G. Aranda-Almansa, and A. Bula, "Gasification of biomass wastes in an entrained flow gasifier: Effect of the particle size and the residence time," *Fuel Process. Technol.*, vol. 91, no. 6, pp. 681– 692, 2010, doi: 10.1016/j.fuproc.2010.01.018.
- [38] G. Oh et al., "Syngas production through gasification of coal water mixture and power generation on dual-fuel diesel engine," J. Energy Inst., vol. 92, no. 2, pp. 265–274, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.joei.2018.01.009.
- [39] M. Materazzi and R. Taylor, "Plasma-Assisted Gasification for Waste-to-Fuels Applications," *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.*, vol. 58, no. 35, pp. 15902–15913, 2019, doi: 10.1021/acs.iecr.9b01239.
- [40] M. Liu and P. V. Aravind, "The fate of tars under solid oxide fuel cell conditions: A review," *Appl. Therm. Eng.*, vol. 70, no. 1, pp. 687–693, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.applthermaleng.2014.05.068.
- [41] "Waste-to-gas plant revived after administration." https://www.letsrecycle.com/news/waste-to-gasplant-revived-after-administration/ (accessed May 16, 2024).
- [42] R. Sakthivel, G. V. Harshini, M. S. Vardhan, A. Vinod, and K. Gomathi, *Biomass energy conversion through pyrolysis: A ray of hope for the current energy crisis*. Elsevier Inc., 2022. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-323-95108-1.00006-9.
- [43] C. Ab and R. W. E. P. Ag, "Status report on thermal gasification of biomass and waste 2021 Annex 5 Other gasification technology – operational / commissioning / erection / planned," no. February, pp. 1–32, 2021.
- [44] "World's largest single-line pulp mill carbon neutral | Bioenergy International." https://bioenergyinternational.com/worlds-largest-single-line-pulp-mill-carbon-neutral/ (accessed May 17, 2024).
- [45] X. G. Li, Q. Bin Chen, K. Z. Huang, B. G. Ma, and B. Wu, "Cementitious properties and hydration mechanism of circulating fluidized bed combustion (CFBC) desulfurization ashes," *Constr. Build. Mater.*, vol. 36, pp. 182–187, 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2012.05.017.
- [46] G. Chen, L. Shiyuan, and W. Linwei, "Current investigation status of oxy-fuel circulating fluidized bed combustion," *Fuel*, vol. 342, no. January, p. 127699, 2023, doi: 10.1016/j.fuel.2023.127699.
- [47] Å. Burman and G. E. AB, "The GoBiGas Project," SGC Int. Semin., 2013.
- [48] "Hultsfred." https://energikontorsyd.se/hultsfred (accessed May 17, 2024).
- [49] T. Lepage, M. Kammoun, Q. Schmetz, and A. Richel, "Biomass-to-hydrogen: A review of main routes production, processes evaluation and techno-economical assessment," *Biomass and Bioenergy*, vol. 144, no. March 2020, p. 105920, 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.biombioe.2020.105920.
- [50] R. M. Swanson, A. Platon, J. A. Satrio, and R. C. Brown, "Techno-economic analysis of biomass-to-liquids production based on gasification," *Fuel*, vol. 89, no. SUPPL. 1, pp. S11–S19, 2010, doi: 10.1016/j.fuel.2010.07.027.
- [51] "5.2. Commercial Gasifiers | netl.doe.gov." https://netl.doe.gov/research/Coal/energysystems/gasification/gasifipedia/types-gasifiers (accessed Jun. 05, 2024).





- [52] C. Pfeifer, S. Koppatz, and H. Hofbauer, "Steam gasification of various feedstocks at a dual fluidised bed gasifier: Impacts of operation conditions and bed materials," *Biomass Convers. Biorefinery*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 39–53, 2011, doi: 10.1007/s13399-011-0007-1.
- [53] T. Golden, B. Reed, and A. Das, "Handbook of Biomass Downdraft Gasifier Engine Systems," *SERI* . U.S. *Dep. Energy*, no. March, p. 148, 1988.
- [54] "CHOREN Coal Gasification[®] Process." https://www.choren.com/en/technology/choren-coalgasification/ (accessed May 20, 2024).
- [55] N. Couto, A. Rouboa, V. Silva, E. Monteiro, and K. Bouziane, "Influence of the biomass gasification processes on the final composition of syngas," *Energy Procedia*, vol. 36, pp. 596–606, 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.egypro.2013.07.068.
- [56] H. Thunman *et al.*, "Advanced biofuel production via gasification lessons learned from 200 man-years of research activity with Chalmers' research gasifier and the GoBiGas demonstration plant," *Energy Sci. Eng.*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 6–34, 2018, doi: 10.1002/ese3.188.
- [57] F. Weiland, H. Hedman, H. Wiinikka, and M. Marklund, "Pressurized entrained flow gasification of pulverized biomass - Experiences from pilot scale operation," *Chem. Eng. Trans.*, vol. 50, pp. 325–330, 2016, doi: 10.3303/CET1650055.
- [58] N. Ünlü and S. Özdoğan, "Entrained flow Co-gasification of torrefied biomass and coal," *Energy*, vol. 263, no. May 2022, 2023, doi: 10.1016/j.energy.2022.125864.
- [59] S. Vecten, M. Wilkinson, N. Bimbo, R. Dawson, and B. M. J. Herbert, "Hydrogen-rich syngas production from biomass in a steam microwave-induced plasma gasification reactor," *Bioresour. Technol.*, vol. 337, no. March, p. 125324, 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.biortech.2021.125324.
- [60] X. Fan *et al.*, "Separation and physicochemical properties of residual carbon in gasification slag," *Physicochem. Probl. Miner. Process.*, vol. 58, no. 6, 2022, doi: 10.37190/ppmp/154928.
- [61] D. Stachel, F. Zangenberg, and T. E. Müller, "Chemical behaviour of metallic inclusions in glass melts," *J. Phys. Chem. Solids*, vol. 68, no. 5–6, pp. 1017–1020, 2007, doi: 10.1016/j.jpcs.2007.02.051.
- [62] A. Bertrand *et al.*, "A comprehensive study of the carbon contamination in tellurite glasses and glassceramics sintered by spark plasma sintering (SPS)," *J. Am. Ceram. Soc.*, vol. 97, no. 1, pp. 163–172, 2014, doi: 10.1111/jace.12657.
- [63] A. B. Koc and M. Abdullah, "Performance of a 4-cylinder diesel engine running on tire oil-biodiesel-diesel blend," *Fuel Process. Technol.*, vol. 118, pp. 264–269, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.fuproc.2013.09.013.
- [64] "Time to start GoBiGas 1 | Bioenergy International." https://bioenergyinternational.com/time-startgobigas-1/ (accessed Jun. 05, 2024).
- [65] "Projects |." https://demoplants21.best-research.eu/projects/info/3274/XQ62ks (accessed May 23, 2024).
- [66] IEA Bioenergy and L. Waldheim, *Gasification of waste for energy carriers. A review.*, vol. Task 33. 2018.
- [67] P. Basu, *Biomass Gasification and Pyrolysis Practical Design*. Massachusetts: Elsevier Inc., 2010. doi: 10.1016/C2009-0-20099-7.
- [68] "Vicat gasifier at Créchy: cement plant gets cleaner all the time | Vicat." https://www.vicat.com/news/vicat-gasifier-crechy-cement-plant-gets-cleaner-all-time (accessed Jun. 05, 2024).
- [69] G. Lourinho, O. Alves, B. Garcia, B. Rijo, P. Brito, and C. Nobre, "Costs of Gasification Technologies for Energy and Fuel Production: Overview, Analysis, and Numerical Estimation," *Recycling*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 1–17, 2023, doi: 10.3390/recycling8030049.





- [70] Project Horizon 2020 BIOFIT, "Retrofit of Metsä Fibre Joutseno Pulp Mill," *Factsheet*, vol. 2011, pp. 2017–2020, 2019.
- [71] C. Couhert, S. Salvador, and J. M. Commandré, "Impact of torrefaction on syngas production from wood," *Fuel*, vol. 88, no. 11, pp. 2286–2290, 2009, doi: 10.1016/j.fuel.2009.05.003.
- [72] T. R. Sarker, C. S. German, V. B. Borugadda, V. Meda, and A. K. Dalai, "Techno-economic analysis of torrefied fuel pellet production from agricultural residue via integrated torrefaction and pelletization process," *Heliyon*, vol. 9, no. 6, p. e16359, 2023, doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2023.e16359.
- [73] "Statistics | Eurostat." https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrowser/view/sdg_10_10_custom_8987827/default/bar?lang=en (accessed Jun. 26, 2024).
- [74] L. Bromberg *et al.*, "System optimization and cost analysis of plasma catalytic reforming of natural gas," *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, vol. 25, no. 12, pp. 1157–1161, 2000, doi: 10.1016/S0360-3199(00)00048-3.





HISTORY OF CHANGES					
VERSION	PUBLICATION DATE CHANGE				
1.0	10.05.2024	Initial version			
1.1	31.05.2024	Revised version			
1.2	11.06.2024	The first version was sent to all partners			
1.3	21.06.2024	Final day for partners comments			
1.4	27.06.2024	Comments from partners have been taken into account			
1.5	01.07.2024	The final version was sent to all partners for second revision			
1.6	04.07.2024	Final day for partner comments			
1.7	05.07.2024	Revised and approved version by all partners			

